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“Bod boasts exposure 
to the top five fastest 

growing and most lucrative 
segments in the pharmacy 
channel, including healthy 

ageing, women’s health, 
digestive health, daily  

well-being and healthy 
immune system health.”

PAGE 4  |  Annual Report 2018 – BEAUTIFUL SCIENCE



Bod Australia Limited  |  PAGE 5

Dear Fellow Shareholders,

I am delighted to present Bod Australia Limited’s Annual 

Report and financial statements for the financial year 

ending 30 June 2018 (FY2018).

The Board and management have worked diligently 

over the past 12 months to achieve numerous corporate 

and operational milestones, building on the strong 

foundation set during FY2017. 

During the period, Bod progressed a number of 

initiatives to significantly broaden its distribution 

footprint, scale its revenue profile, formalise agreements 

with international counterparties, bolster the 

Company’s product offering and work  towards the 

commencement of its Phase I Clinical Trial.

A defining achievement for the period was securing 

agreements with two of Australia’s largest pharmacy 

wholesalers in Australian Pharmaceutical Industries (API) 

and Symbion. Together, these agreements give Bod 

access to over two thirds of the Australian pharmacy 

market. 

API and Symbion will now stock the Company’s entire 

range of natural medicines and premium pregnancy 

supplement, MamaCare. Having agreements with 

wholesalers of this calibre has allowed the Company 

to better utilise working capital, secure superior market 

positioning and centralise logistics management. 

This added distribution has also underpinned the 

growth in the revenue, which we will continue to build 

across the current financial year. 

During the period, Bod also bolstered its product 

offering to include SediStress, targeting the reduction 

of stress and anxiety, Enterofytol to treat Irritable Bowel 

Syndrome and MamaCare a new pregnancy formula. 

Following the launch of these brands, Bod boasts 

exposure to the top five fastest growing and most 

lucrative segments in the pharmacy channel, including 

healthy ageing, women’s health, digestive health, daily 

well-being and healthy immune system health.

Further, the Company also formalised agreements with 

CHAIRMAN’S 
REPORT

international partners, most prominently progressing 

a supply and collaboration agreement with the Swiss 

based, Linnea Natural Pharma Solutions (Linnea) and 

Singaporean specialty pharmaceutical company, iX 

Biopharma. These validate Bod’s ability to become a 

leader in the health and wellness sector on a global 

scale. 

I am excited to report that the Company also made 

significant progress towards the commencement of its 

Phase I Clinical trial to test the safety, tolerability and 

pharmacokinetics of our sublingual cannabis wafer. 

Success here will leave Bod with a globally unique 

product which can be distributed internationally or 

licensed to large scale pharmaceutical companies. 

Overall, Bod has continued its tremendous momentum 

in FY2018 and is in an exceptionally strong position as 

FY2019 progresses. 

We look forward to building on our recent 

achievements and unlocking additional value for 

shareholders. 

I would like to take this opportunity to thank our 

previous Chairman and now Non-Executive Director, 

Simon O’Loughlin, for guiding Bod in its first two 

years as a publicly listed Company. I would also like 

to commend our CEO, Jo Patterson and her team for 

continuing to personify our core brand values through 

their hard work and dedication to Bod Australia. 

And on behalf of the Board, I would also like to thank 

our loyal shareholders for your ongoing support and 

commitment. I look forward to sharing the rest of this 

journey with you as Bod becomes a globally significant 

company in the health and wellness sector. 

George Livery 

Executive Chairman 
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“Bod has become one of the 
first successful Australian 

importers of medicinal 
cannabis products, leaving it 
well positioned to capitalise 
on yet another lucrative and 
emerging market segment.”
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Dear Shareholders,

From an operational standpoint, the financial year 

ending 30 June 2018 was a period of exceptional 

growth and development for Bod Australia Limited. 

The Company has managed to grow tremendously 

in a short period of time, progressing our natural 

evidence-based skincare, natural medicines and health 

products suite. Further, Bod has become one of the first 

successful Australian importers of medicinal cannabis 

products, leaving it well positioned to capitalise on yet 

another lucrative and emerging market segment. 

I am delighted too, that the Company has built on its 

already strong product offering in FY2018. Currently, 

Bod has exposure to five of the fastest growing market 

segments in the pharmacy channel. Since the launch 

of Sedistress, to target stress and anxiety, Enterofytol 

to treat Irritable Bowel Syndrome and securing a 

distribution agreement for premium pregnancy 

supplement, MamaCare, Bod has managed to further 

strengthen its sales pipeline. Driving sales growth 

remains a focus for Bod across the current period 

and we look forward to significantly increasing order 

volumes as the financial year continues. 

We have also achieved strong market and pharmacy 

support through our significant growth in distribution. 

Our total number of pharmacy and specialty retailer 

doors now exceeds 1,000, and through agreements 

with two of Australia’s largest pharmacy wholesalers 

in Symbion and Australian Pharmaceutical Industries, 

we have access to approximately two thirds of the 

Australian pharmacy market. 

We have also undertaken numerous initiatives to grow 

our presence with wholesalers and specialty retailers. 

By introducing new package sizes to increase our 

shelf presence and engaging in targeted marketing 

campaigns, we are beginning to witness tremendous 

product uptake and a have set a strong foundation for 

revenue growth. 

Further, Bod has made monumental progress towards 

becoming a leader in the lucrative and emerging 

medicinal cannabis market. Specifically, Bod has 

become one of the first ASX-listed companies to 

receive its permission to import medicinal cannabis 

from the NSW Department of Therapeutic Goods 

Administration. 

The Company also formalised its relationship with 

leading Swiss botanics company, Linnea Natural 

Pharma Solutions (Linnea). Under the binding supply 

and collaboration agreement, Bod and Linnea 

CEO’S 
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have been working towards the development 

and commercialisation of cannabis-based health 

supplements and skincare products. 

I am pleased to advise that this agreement has already 

yielded results, mainly evident in the successful 

importation of Linnea’s proprietary cannabidiol (CBD) 

extract, ECs315, and its 5% cannabidiol in MCT oil. 

During the period, Bod successfully imported both of 

these products and has worked with relevant authorities 

to make the Company’s 5% cannabidiol in MCT oil, now 

rebranded as ‘MediCabilis’ available to patients under 

the Therapeutic Goods Administration Special Access 

Scheme Category B. 

The ECs315 extract, a pivotal component for the 

Company’s Phase I Clinical trial is being utilised 

in conjunction with Bod’s exclusive partner, iX 

Biopharma’s ‘Wafer iX’ technology. 

As outlined in the manufacturing and commercial 

agreement secured between Bod and iX Biopharma, 

Bod has supplied the specialty Singaporean 

pharmaceutical company with a range of cannabis 

extracts which have been subsequently freeze dried 

into a sublingual wafer. This sublingual cannabis wafer 

is currently being tested in the Company’s Phase I 

Clinical trial. 

From a corporate standpoint, Bod greatly strengthened 

its cash position, completing a heavily oversubscribed 

placement of 10 million shares at $0.32 per share to 

sophisticated and institutional investors. The placement 

was conducted at a premium to both the 15-day and 

30-day volume weighted averages prices with funds 

deployed towards core business growth and fast 

tracking Phase I Clinical trials.

Bod is in a strong position and has a number of 

additional growth opportunities pending. The 

Board and management continue to pursue vertical 

integration initiatives across the entirety of the business 

and will look to further leverage both upstream and 

downstream aspects of the value chain as FY2019 

continues. 

Jo Patterson 

Chief Executive Officer

PAGE  4  |   Annual Report 2017 – BEAUTIFUL SCIENCE

Dear Shareholders,

From an operational standpoint, the financial year 

ending 30 June 2017 (‘FY2017’) has been a period of 

exceptional development for Bod Australia.

The Company has made solid gains across its 

core evidence-based natural skin care, and health 

solutions business, while simultaneously laying solid 

foundations for long-term growth in the rapidly 

emerging medicinal cannabis market.

Building on a successful initial public offering (IPO), 

Bod’s key achievements in FY2017 have included 

strengthening its portfolio of premium skin care and 

evidence-based natural health products, expanding 

sales channels and entering into the research and 

development stages with our medicinal cannabis 

offering.

I am delighted to report that Bod’s portfolio of 

premium skin and health care brands is now stronger 

than ever as a result through our introduction 

of Flexofytol® anti-inflammatory products into 

the Australian and Asian markets, alongside the 

recognised and established Pommade Divine brand.

Bod is delivering on the product development 

objectives outlined in the Company’s prospectus 

through the launch of the Pinpoint product line, which 

is medically proven to improve mental performance in 

adults and children aged seven years and over.

These new product lines complement Bod’s existing 

exclusive Australian distribution agreement for 

BIOEFFECT, an award-winning serum based on the 

cellular activator that speeds up the skin’s natural 

renewal process to rejuvenate complexion and banish 

signs of ageing. 

Having built a strong portfolio of integrated evidence-

based health and skin care brands, Bod has also 

strengthened its sales pipeline and expanded its 

channels to market through agreements with leading 

retailers and distributors.

In FY2017, Bod added a range of major retail partners 

including Ritchie’s IGA supermarkets and Alpha 

inflight duty-free services, along with Australian 

Pharmaceutical Industries’ network of 3,000 Priceline, 

Soul Pattinson, Pharmacist Advice and Club Premium 

retail outlets.

These new channels are in addition to Bod’s 

established distribution partnerships with David Jones, 

Sephora, independent pharmacies, and direct sales to 

consumers online.

Bod’s strong market position, extensive distribution 

agreements, and leading expertise in the evidence-

based natural skin care, and health solutions markets 

ensures that it is ideally placed to build a highly-

integrated medicinal cannabis business.

We believe there are a multitude of opportunities 

for Bod in the cannabis market, including both 

therapeutic uses and broader health applications and 

we look forward to updating shareholders as these 

opportunities arise. 

The Company will also continue to explore 

acquisitions or other corporate opportunities to assist 

in realising further value for shareholders. 

Bod has taken a number of steps to pursue 

opportunities in the cannabis space by signing a 

binding letter of intent (LOI) with Linnea, establishing 

a Medicinal Cannabis Advisory Board, and appointing 

leading medicinal cannabis expert Mr. Mickey Perret 

as a Non-Executive Director.

Overall, in FY2017 Bod has delivered on a number 

of fronts from an operational perspective including 

additional products, securing major distribution 

agreements with leading brands, expanding 

distribution, signing an LOI with Linnea, and exploring 

profit-accretive acquisitions. The Company is now 

well-position to build on these successes to realise 

growth in FY2018.

Yours sincerely,

Jo Patterson 

Chief Executive Officer

CEO’S REPORT
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REVIEW OF 
OPERATIONS

The financial year ending 30 June 2018 (FY2018) has been a period of 
significant growth from both an operational and corporate perspective  
for Bod Australia Limited. 

The Company has continued its strong growth trajectory, unlocking 
shareholder value through additions to its leading, natural and evidence-based 
product suite, a broadened distribution footprint, securing agreements with  
key international counterparties, work towards the commencement of  
Phase I Clinical trials and an increase in sales and revenue for the period. 

Medicinal cannabis advisory Board appointed 

To assist in driving growth in the lucrative and 

emerging medicinal cannabis sector, Bod assembled an 

independent medicinal cannabis advisory board which 

brings together a number of internationally-recognised 

experts from a range of medicinal and cannabis-related 

fields. 

The advisory panel have been instrumental in assisting 

the Company’s strategic direction in the fast-growing 

industry, including providing direction on clinical 

trial design, regulatory compliance and stakeholder 

engagement.

Supply and Collaboration agreement  
with Linnea Natural Pharma Solutions 

During the period, Bod secured a milestone agreement 

with Linnea Natural Pharma Solutions (Linnea), in 

which both companies will collaborate to develop and 

commercialise cannabis-based health and skincare 

products. Linnea will also assist Bod by supplying 

samples of its products and extracts for Bod to evaluate 

in its own facilities. 

Throughout the development phase of the agreement, 

Linnea will support Bod through its research and 

development process, including collaborating to 

determine the correct dosage form for products to be 

tested in Clinical trials. During the commercialisation 

phase, Linnea also gains first right of refusal to distribute 

Bod’s medicinal cannabis products in international 

markets where the Company doesn’t distribute directly. 
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Phase I Clinical trial design and refinement

In a monumental development, the Company 

completed the design for its Phase I Clinical trial during 

the period. The Phase I Clinical trial will test Bod’s novel 

pharmaceutical grade cannabis extract, suspended in 

a sublingual wafer. The trial is designed to assess the 

safety, tolerability and pharmacokinetics of single and 

multiple doses of the unique sublingual cannabis wafer 

in healthy volunteers. 

Initially, the trial was cited to take between eight to nine 

months but following an extensive review of trial design 

this was reduced to a three month duration period. 

Other improvements to the study included access to 

additional data for future studies and formulations, 

including a comparison to the only other approved 

medicinal cannabis product that is currently being 

trialed in the Australian market.

MamaCare distribution agreement 

During the period, Bod significantly broadened its 

product offering and entered into the fast-growing 

pregnancy supplement market through an exclusive 

distribution agreement with MamaCare. 

MamaCare’s range includes a protein-based 

pharmaceutical grade pregnancy supplement powder 

which contains all the nutrients that women require 

before, during and after pregnancy. The range also 

includes skincare products which support women 

during pregnancy. The products key competitive 

advantages include its delicious taste, gentleness on the 

stomach and that it is more easily absorbed than tablets. 

Under the agreement, Bod manages all aspects of the 

MamaCare brand including distribution, marketing and 

sales. The Company is pleased to advise that it has 

witnessed significant product uptake to date and  

will continue to progress sales of the product in the 

near term. 

Further additions to the Company’s product suite

The Company bolstered its product suite during the 

period by launching two additional offerings including 

Enterofytol, targeting Irritable Bowel Syndrome and 

SediStress, which assists with the treatment of stress 

and anxiety respectively. 

Following the launch of both SediStress and Enterofytol, 

Bod now has exposure to five of the fastest growing 

market segments in the pharmacy channel, including 

healthy ageing, women’s health, digestive health, daily 

wellbeing and immune system health. 

Cannabis Import licence granted 

As advised on 4 December 2017, Bod became one of 

the first ASX-listed companies to be granted a medicinal 

cannabis import licence. The licence was granted 

through the NSW Department of Therapeutic Goods 

Administration and allows for the import and storage of 

cannabis products. 

Following the granting of this licence and receiving 

approvals from the Federal Office of Drug Control, Bod 

became one of the first and only companies in Australia 

with the ability to import cannabis products. 
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REVIEW OF 
OPERATIONS 
CONTINUED

Completion of cannabis imports 

In another significant milestone during the period,  

Bod became one of the first ASX-listed companies  

to successfully import medicinal cannabis products  

into Australia. 

Under the Company’s permission to import granted 

by the Office of Drug Control, Bod imported Linnea’s 

proprietary cannabidiol (CBD) extract, ECs315 and its 5% 

cannabidiol in MCT oil. 

Both ingredients have been instrumental in the 

Company’s development ahead of Phase I Clinical 

trials. The ECs315 cannabis extract has been effectively 

utilised in Bod’s sublingual cannabis wafer and the 

Company has also worked with relevant authorities 

during the period to make Linnea’s 5% cannabidiol in 

MCT oil, now rebranded as ‘MediCabilis’, available to 

patients under the Therapeutic Goods Administration 

Special Access Scheme Category B. 

Agreement with specialty pharmaceutical 
company, iX Biopharma Limited  
and China patent protection

To ensure the Company had access to a unique 

deliverable method for its cannabis products,  

Bod secured an exclusive manufacturing and 

commercial agreement with Singapore stock  

exchange listed, specialty pharmaceutical company,  

iX Biopharma Limited. 

Under the agreement, Bod has been supplying iX 

Biopharma with a range of medicinal cannabis extracts 

including oils and powders from Linnea SA. These 

extracts have then been utilised by iX Biopharma in the 

manufacture and development of the Company’s now 

proprietary and globally unique sublingual cannabis wafer. 

The sublingual cannabis wafer is currently being tested 

in the Company’s Phase I Clinical trial, which will test 

the safety, tolerability and pharmacokinetics of the 

finished product. 

In a further positive development, the Company advised 

that iX Biopharma had been granted an exclusive patent 

for its ’WaferiX’ technology and delivery method by 

the People’s Republic of China. This advancement 

subsequently provides Bod with patent protection for its 

sublingual cannabis wafer and adds to the additional 24 

patents iX Biopharma has secured in countries including 

Australia, New Zealand, Canada and countries in the 

European Union. 

Completion of Sublingual Wafer  
and granting of ethics approval

As announced on 11 May 2018, the Company advised 

that it had completed the R&D process, as well as the 

manufacture of its sublingual cannabis wafer for testing 

in its Phase I Clinical trials. 

Further, Bod achieved another crucial milestone in the 

commencement of Phase I Clinical trials by receiving 

full ethics approval from the Human Research Ethics 

Committee, in accordance with the National Health and 

Medical Research Council. 

While the ethics approval in most cases takes up to 

12 months, Bod was pleased to have gained it in an 

unprecedented timeframe of only six weeks. This is 

largely due to the superior quality of the Company’s 

proprietary extract and finished sublingual wafer, 

significance of counterparties involved, calibre of trial 

design and experience of Bod’s medicinal cannabis 

advisory board. 

Products listed as a ‘core range’ with Australian 
Pharmaceutical Industries (API)

Significantly bolstering the Company’s distribution 

footprint, Bod secured an agreement with leading 

pharmacy wholesaler API, in which Bod’s entire range of 

natural supplements will be stocked as a core range. 

The agreement provides Bod with access to API’s 

network of over 2,000 pharmacies across Australia, 

which include some of the country’s best-known 

pharmacy chains. Further, Bod will benefit from better 

utilised working capital, stricter payment periods and 

API’s centralised delivery points. 

Underlying NPAT

5.4%
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6.1%
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17%
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Agreement with national wholesaler of 
healthcare products, Symbion 

Furthering the Company’s channels to market, Bod 

also secured an agreement with leading wholesaler of 

healthcare products and services, Symbion. As part of 

the agreement, Symbion will now stock Bod’s entire 

natural medicines product suite, as well as premium 

pregnancy supplement, MamaCare. 

Symbion is one of Australia’s largest pharmacy 

wholesalers, providing products to over 3,500 

pharmacies nationwide. Similar to the Company’s 

agreement with API, the relationship allows Bod to 

better utilise working capital by leveraging Symbion’s 

10 centralised delivery points, as well as more stringent 

payment periods. 

Following the Company’s respective agreements with 

Symbion and API, Bod now has access to over two 

thirds of the Australian pharmacy market. 

Board and management appointments

During the period, Bod significantly strengthened its 

Board and management team through the appointment 

of both Mr Mickey Perret as a Non-Executive Director 

and Mr George Livery as Executive Chairman. 

Mr Perret is a seasoned company director, boasting over 

30 years’ experience in senior business roles, including 

senior posts at Macquarie Bank, Colonial First State and 

MBF. Mr Perret also has almost a decade of experience 

in the rapidly growing North American medicinal 

cannabis industry.

Further, Bod also advised that it had appointed Mr 

George Livery, previously Director of Strategy & 

Corporate at Swisse Wellness Group as Executive 

Chairman, effective September 1. 

Mr Livery has close to 30 years’ experience in senior 

roles domestically and internationally. His high-level 

experience is most notably culminated in his roles 

with Swisse Wellness Group, where he began as a 

Commercial Director and was subsequently promoted 

to Director of Strategy & Corporate within the group. 

During his tenure with Swisse, Mr Livery was responsible 

for a broad range of initiatives including international 

business expansion, commercial contracts and 

agreements, third party and commercial branding 

opportunities as well as wholesaler and reseller 

compliance. Mr Livery was instrumental in negotiating 

the $1.67 billion transaction with Biostime (now H&H 

Group) and leading the corporate integration and 

strategy of the two companies post completion. 

The Company advises that following Mr Livery’s 

appointment, previous Chairman, Mr Simon O’Loughlin 

moved to a Non-Executive Director position. Bod 

Australia wishes to thank Mr O’Loughlin for his hard 

work and dedication to the Company. 

Heavily oversubscribed capital raise 

The Company strengthened its cash position during the 

period, following a heavily oversubscribed capital raise. 

The placement consisted of 10 million shares at $0.32 

per share, being issued to a range of sophisticated and 

institutional investors. 

The strategic placement was conducted at a premium 

to both the 15 day and 30 day volume weighted average 

price of $0.289 and $0.236 respectively. 

Funds raised have been utilised to accelerate sales 

growth and fast track the Company’s Phase I  

Clinical trials. 

Continued revenue growth

During FY2018, Bod significantly strengthened its 

revenue profile. Revenue for the period was $1,170,206, 

which represents a 231% increase on the previous 

corresponding period (FY2017: $352,877).

Growth was attributed to a number of factors, including 

an increase in the Company’s distribution network, 

additions to the product range and ongoing marketing 

and branding initiatives. 

The Company continues to focus on product uptake 

and increasing its sales profile and expects to continue 

its strong revenue growth. 

Outlook 

Bod has continued its tremendous momentum 

across FY2018 and remains well positioned to unlock 

additional shareholder value in FY2019. 

The Company has a number of catalysts pending which 

will drive growth across its core business. These include 

its Phase I Clinical trial, numerous vertical integration 

initiatives, opportunities in the emerging medicinal 

cannabis sector and plans to leverage both upstream 

and downstream aspects of the value chain. 
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DIRECTORS 
REPORT 

The directors present their report, together with 
the financial statements, on the company for the 
year ended 30 June 2018. 

Directors 

The following persons were directors of the 
company during the whole of the financial year 
and up to the date of this report, unless otherwise 
stated: 

Joanne Patterson 

Simon O’Loughlin  

Simon Taylor 

Mickey Perret (appointed 7 August 2017) 

Principal activities 

The principal activity of Bod Australia Limited 
during the year was a vertically integrated 
developer, manufacturer, distributor and marketer 
of plant-based health supplements and beauty 
solutions.  

No significant changes in the nature of the 
Company’s activity occurred during the year. 

Dividends 

There were no dividends paid, recommended or 
declared during the current or previous financial 
year. 

Result of operations 

The loss for the company after providing for 
income tax amounted to $3,672,105 (30 June 
2017: $3,168,615). 

Significant changes in the state of affairs 

There were no significant changes in the state of 
affairs of the company during the financial year. 

Matters subsequent to the end of the financial 
year 

Subsequent to year end, the following events 
occurred: - 

I.  It was announced that George Livery has 
been appointed Executive Chairman with the 
appointment to take effect on 1 September: and 

II.  On the 24th July 2018 at an Extraordinary 
General Meeting that for the purpose of ASX 
Listing Rule 10.11 and for all other purposes, 
approval was given to the issue by the Company 
of 2,300,000 Options to George Livery. 

No other matter or circumstance has arisen since 
30 June 2018 that has significantly affected, or 
may significantly affect the company’s operations, 
the results of those operations, or the company’s 
state of affairs in future financial years. 

Likely developments and expected results of 
operations 

Information on likely developments in the 
operations of the company and the expected 
results of operations have not been included in 
this report because the directors believe it would 
be likely to result in unreasonable prejudice to the 
company. 

Environmental regulation 

The company is not subject to any significant 
environmental regulation under Australian 
Commonwealth or State law. 
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Information on Directors 

Name: Joanne Patterson 

Title: Chief Executive Officer

Qualifications: MBus. Marketing 

Experience and expertise: 
Jo is a strategic marketer with over 20 years’ 
exposure both in Australia and overseas. She has 
developed a number of businesses from start-
up as well as driving established organisations 
towards growth and merger trajectories. She has 
been officially recognised as a successful business 
executive by winning a number of key business 
awards. Her acumen is evidenced in the success of 
previous companies in the technology, advertising 
and beauty sectors.  

Jo has held multiple CEO and Managing Director 
roles over her career, and in addition, she 
contributes philanthropic time to organisations 
such as The Cerebral Palsy Alliance and Fighting 
Chance.   

These wide and diverse experiences led her to 
found Bod Australia in 2014. With her beauty and 
cosmetic experience, Jo brings the “Out” to “Inside 
and Out”.  

Other current directorships: None  

Former directorships (last 3 years): None  

Special responsibilities: None  

Interests in shares: 5,700,000  

Interests in options: 1,500,000  

Contractual rights to shares: None  

Name: Simon O’Loughlin  

Title: Non-Executive Chairman  

Qualifications: BA (Acc), Law Society Certificate in 
Law  

Experience and expertise:  
Simon O’Loughlin is the founder of O’Loughlins 
Lawyers, an Adelaide based, specialist commercial 
law firm. He has extensive experience in the 
corporate and commercial law fields while 
practising in Sydney and Adelaide, and also holds 
accounting qualifications.   

Mr O’Loughlin has extensive experience and 
involvement with companies in the small industrial 
and resources sectors. He has also been involved 
in the listing and back-door listing of numerous 
companies on the ASX, most recently the back-

door listings of The Food Revolution Group 
Limited (formerly Crest Minerals Limited) and Xref 
Limited (formerly King Solomon Mines Limited). He 
is a former Chairman of the Taxation Institute of 
Australia (SA Division) and Save the Children Fund 
(SA Division).  

Other current directorships: Chesser Resources 
Limited and Petratherm Limited  

Former directorships (last 3 years): Kibaran 
Resources Limited, Food Revolution Group 
Limited, Goldminex Limited, Oklo Resources 
Limited, Crest Minerals Limited, Reproductive 
Health Science Limited, King Solomon Mines 
Limited, Lawson Gold Limited, Gooroo Ventures 
Limited, ARC Exploration Limited and WCP 
Resources Limited  

Special responsibilities: None  

Interests in shares: 510,000  

Interests in options: 750,000  

Contractual rights to shares: None  

Name: Simon Taylor  

Title: Non-Executive Director  

Qualifications: B.Sc, M.A.I.G.  

Experience and expertise:   
Simon Taylor is a resource executive with over 
25 years’ experience at CEO and Board levels. He 
has had a diversified career providing professional 
services to resource companies and financial 
corporations. He has also been involved in 
the listing and back-door listing of numerous 
companies on the ASX, most recently the 
back-door listing of Xref Limited (formerly King 
Solomon Mines Limited). Mr. Taylor has significant 
international experience having been involved 
in business with operations in Australia, Brazil, 
Turkey, Uganda, Tanzania, Mali, China, the United 
Kingdom and North America.  

Other current directorships: Oklo Resources 
Limited, Chesser Resources Limited and ARC 
Exploration Limited  

Former directorships (last 3 years): King Solomon 
Mines Limited and TW Holdings Limited  

Special responsibilities: None  

Interests in shares: 770,000  

Interests in options: 750,000  

Contractual rights to shares:  None  
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Name: Mickey Perret (appointed 7 August 2017) 

Title: Non-Executive Director 

Experience and expertise:  
Mr. Perret brings over 30 years’ experience across 
a range of senior executive roles, including at 
leading Australian financial services companies 
including Macquarie Bank, Colonial State Bank and 
MBF. He currently serves as the Managing Director 
of building inspection and services company 
Houspect Australia Franchising. 

A seasoned board member with strong corporate 
governance knowledge and a Masters’ Degree in 
Banking and Finance, Mr. Perret is currently serving 
as a Director at a number of private companies 
across both Australia and North America. 

Alongside his duties at Bod, Mr. Perret will remain 
a Director at investment properties company 
Coninta Holdings, and US-based start-up energy 
broking company Current Power and Gas. In 
addition, Mr. Perret is currently a Director of 
privately-held Australian companies Houspect 
Australia Franchising, Houspect New South Wales, 
Locper Holdings, Coninta, and Nornta. 

Mr. Perret brings more than six years’ experience in 
the rapidly growing medicinal cannabis industry in 
North America, including through a privately-held 
Canadian company Backroads Enterprises Ltd, 
which is licensed to grow and distribute medical 
marijuana. 

In addition, Mr. Perret has been directly involved 
in numerous marijuana company mergers and 
acquisitions, including as an active foundation 
investor in a number of companies in the sector, 
and has extensive contacts across the industry in 
North America. 

Other current directorships: None 

Former directorships (last 3 years): None 

Special responsibilities: None 

Interests in shares: 86,000 

Interests in options: 1,000,000 

Contractual rights to shares: None 

‘Other current directorships’ quoted above are 
current directorships for listed entities only and 
excludes directorships of all other types of entities, 
unless otherwise stated. 

‘Former directorships (last 3 years)’ quoted above 
are directorships held in the last 3 years for listed 
entities only and excludes directorships of all other 
types of entities, unless otherwise stated. 

Company secretary 

Andrew Bursill 

Andrew Bursill has 19 years of experience as CFO 
of ASX listed, public and private companies in tech, 
biotech, medical devices, mining and VC. 

He has CFO and Company Secretary experience 
at all stages of company development from 
pre-revenue start-ups to $100 million+ annual 
turnover, Andrew is a founding partner of CFO 
Innovation – provider of outsourced CFO and 
Company Secretarial services, where he has 
participated in numerous successful IPOs and 
back-door listings. 

Andrew is a Member of the Institute of Chartered 
Accountants in Australia. 

Meetings of directors 

The number of meetings of the company’s Board 
of Directors (‘the Board’) held during the year 
ended 30 June 2018, and the number of meetings 
attended by each director were: 

Full Board Attended Held 

Joanne Patterson 8 8  
Simon O’Loughin 8 8  
Simon Taylor 7 8  
Mickey Perret 8 8 

Held: represents the number of meetings held 
during the time the director held office. 
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Remuneration report (audited) 

The remuneration report details the key 
management personnel remuneration 
arrangements for the company, in accordance 
with the requirements of the Corporations Act 
2001 and its Regulations. 

Key management personnel are those persons 
having authority and responsibility for planning, 
directing and controlling the activities of the entity, 
directly or indirectly, including all directors. 

The remuneration report is set out under the 
following main headings: 

•  Principles used to determine the nature and 
amount of remuneration 

• Details of remuneration 

• Service agreements 

• Share-based compensation 

• Additional information 

•  Additional disclosures relating to key 
management personnel 

Principles used to determine the nature and 
amount of remuneration 

The objective of the company’s executive reward 
framework is to ensure reward for performance 
is competitive and appropriate for the results 
delivered. The framework aligns executive reward 
with the achievement of strategic objectives and 
the creation of value for shareholders, and it is 
considered to conform to the market best practice 
for the delivery of reward. The Board of Directors 
(‘the Board’) ensures that executive reward 
satisfies the following key criteria for good reward 
governance practices: 

•  competitiveness and reasonableness 

•  acceptability to shareholders 

•  performance linkage / alignment of executive 
compensation 

•  transparency 

The Board is responsible for determining and 
reviewing remuneration arrangements for its 
directors and executives. The performance of the 
company depends on the quality of its directors 
and executives. The remuneration philosophy is to 
attract, motivate and retain high performance and 
high quality personnel. 

The reward framework is designed to align 
executive reward to shareholders’ interests. The 
Board have considered that it should seek to 
enhance shareholders’ interests by: 

•  having economic profit as a core component of 
plan design 

•  focusing on sustained growth in shareholder 
wealth, consisting of dividends and growth in 
share price, and delivering constant or increasing 
return on assets as well as focusing the executive 
on key non-financial drivers of value 

•  attracting and retaining high calibre executives 

Additionally, the reward framework should seek to 
enhance executives’ interests by: 

•  rewarding capability and experience 

•  reflecting competitive reward for contribution to 
growth in shareholder wealth 

•  providing a clear structure for earning rewards 

In accordance with best practice corporate 
governance, the structure of non-executive 
director and executive director remuneration is 
separate. 

Non-executive directors remuneration 

Fees and payments to non-executive directors 
reflect the demands and responsibilities of 
their role. Non-executive directors’ fees and 
payments are reviewed annually by the Board. The 
chairman’s fees are determined independently to 
the fees of other non-executive directors based 
on comparative roles in the external market. The 
chairman is not present at any discussions relating 
to the determination of his own remuneration. 

ASX listing rules require the aggregate non-
executive directors’ remuneration be determined 
periodically by a general meeting. The maximum 
remuneration for non-executive directors’ remains 
at $300,000 as per the prospectus. 
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Executive remuneration

The company aims to reward executives based on 
their position and responsibility, with a level and 
mix of remuneration which has both fixed and 
variable components.

The executive remuneration and reward 
framework has four components:

• base pay and non-monetary benefits

• short-term performance incentives

• share-based payments

•  other remuneration such as superannuation and 
long service leave

The combination of these comprises the 
executive’s total remuneration.

Fixed remuneration, consisting of base salary, 
superannuation and non-monetary benefits, 
are reviewed annually by the Board based 
on individual and business unit performance, 
the overall performance of the company and 
comparable market remunerations.

Executives may receive their fixed remuneration 
in the form of cash or other fringe benefits (for 
example motor vehicle benefits) where it does not 
create any additional costs to the company and 
provides additional value to the executive.

The short-term incentives (‘STI’) program is 
designed to align the targets of the business 
units with the performance hurdles of executives. 
STI payments are granted to executives based 
on specific annual targets and key performance 
indicators (‘KPI’s’) being achieved. KPI’s include 
profit contribution, customer satisfaction, 
leadership contribution and product management.

The long-term incentives (‘LTI’) include long 
service leave and share-based payments. Shares 
are awarded to executives over a period of three 
years based on long-term incentive measures. 
These include increase in shareholders value 
relative to the entire market and the increase 
compared to the company’s direct competitors. 
The Board reviewed the long-term equity-linked 
performance incentives specifically for executives 
during the year ended 30 June 2017.

Entity performance and link to remuneration

Remuneration for certain individuals is directly 
linked to the performance of the company. A 
portion of cash bonus and incentive payments are 
dependent on defined earnings per share targets 
being met. The remaining portion of the cash 
bonus and incentive payments are at the discretion 
of the Board. Refer to the section ‘Additional 
information’ below for details of the earnings and 
total shareholders return for the last four years.

Voting and comments made at the company’s 
2017 Annual General Meeting (‘AGM’)

At the 2017 AGM, more than 75% of the 
votes received supported the adoption of the 
remuneration report for the year ended 30 June 
2017. The company did not receive any specific 
feedback at the AGM regarding its remuneration 
practices.
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Details of remuneration

Amounts of remuneration

Details of the remuneration of key management personnel of the company are set out in the following 
tables.

The key management personnel of the company consisted of the following:

• Joanne Patterson

• Simon O’Loughlin 

• Simon Taylor 

• Mickey Perret (appointed 7 August 2017)

• Craig Weller -  Chief Operating Officer

The amount of remuneration of directors and key management personnel is set out below:

        
   Post-  Share- 
  employment Long-term  based 
 Short-term benefits benefits benefits payments  

     Long 
 Cash salary Cash    service Equity  
 and fees bonus Nonmonetary Superannuation leave settled Total

2018 $ $ $ $ $ $ $

Non-Executive  
Directors:       

S. O’Loughlin 40,000 - - 3,800 - - 43,800 

S. Taylor 35,000 - - 3,325 - - 38,325 

M. Perret 17,500 - - 1,662 - 53,225 72,387 

Executive Directors:

J. Patterson 250,000 - - 23,750 - 20,530 294,280 

Other Key  
Management  
Personnel:

C. Weller 250,000 - - 23,750 - 20,530 294,280 

 592,500  - - 56,287 - 94,285 743,072 

 

        

BOD Australia Limited 
Directors' report 
30 June 2018 
 

  

  
7 

Voting and comments made at the company's 2017 Annual General Meeting ('AGM') 
At the 2017 AGM, more than 75% of the votes received supported the adoption of the remuneration report for the year ended 
30 June 2017. The company did not receive any specific feedback at the AGM regarding its remuneration practices. 
  

Details of remuneration 
 
Amounts of remuneration 
Details of the remuneration of key management personnel of the company are set out in the following tables. 
  
The key management personnel of the company consisted of the following: 
●  Joanne Patterson 
●  Simon O'Loughlin  
●  Simon Taylor  
●  Mickey Perret (appointed 7 August 2017) 
●  Craig Weller -  Chief Operating Officer 
  
The amount of remuneration of directors and key management personnel is set out below: 
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  and fees  bonus  monetary  annuation  leave  settled  Total 
2018  $  $  $  $  $  $  $ 
               
Non-Executive Directors:               
S. O’Loughlin  40,000   -  -  3,800   -  -  43,800  
S. Taylor  35,000   -  -  3,325   -  -  38,325  
M. Perret  17,500   -  -  1,662   -  53,225   72,387  
               
Executive Directors:               
J. Patterson  250,000   -  -  23,750   -  20,530   294,280  
               
Other Key Management 
Personnel: 

 
 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
C. Weller  250,000   -  -  23,750   -  20,530   294,280  
  592,500   -  -  56,287   -  94,285   743,072  
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   Post-  Share- 
  employment Long-term  based 
 Short-term benefits benefits benefits payments  

     Long 
 Cash salary Cash    service Equity  
 and fees bonus Nonmonetary Superannuation leave settled Total

2017 $ $ $ $ $ $ $

Non-Executive  
Directors:       

S. O’Loughlin 27,128 25,000 - 2,577 - 64,425 119,130 

S. Taylor 23,737 25,000 - 2,255 - 64,425 115,417 

Executive Directors:

J. Patterson 250,000 - - 23,750 - 70,684 344,434 

Other Key  
Management Personnel:

C. Weller 250,000 - - 23,750 - 70,684 344,434 

 550,865 50,000 - 52,332 - 270,218 923,415 

The proportion of remuneration linked to performance and the fixed proportion are as follows:

 Fixed remuneration At risk - STI At risk - LTI

Name 2018 2017 2018 2017 2018 2017

       
Non-Executive Directors:

S. O’Loughlin 100% 32%  - - - 68% 

S. Taylor 100% 29% - - - 71% 

M. Perret 26% - - - 74% -

    

Executive Directors:

J. Patterson 93% 79% - - 7% 21% 

    

Other Key  
Management Personnel:

C. Weller 93% 79% - - 7% 21% 
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Cash bonuses are dependent on meeting defined performance measures. The amount of the bonus is 
determined having regard to the satisfaction of performance measures and weightings as described above 
in the section ‘Entity performance and link to remuneration’. The maximum bonus values are established at 
the start of each financial year and amounts payable are determined in the final month of the financial year 
by the Board.

 

The proportion of the cash bonus paid/payable or forfeited is as follows: 

  Cash bonus paid/payable Cash bonus forfeited

Name   2018 2017 2018 2017

      

Non-Executive Directors:

S. O’Loughlin   - - - -

S. Taylor   - - - -

M. Perret   - - - -

    

Executive Directors:

J. Patterson   - 100%  - -

Other Key  
Management Personnel:

C. Weller   - 100% - -
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Service agreements

Remuneration and other terms of employment 
for key management personnel are formalised in 
service agreements. Details of these agreements 
are as follows:

Name: Joanne Patterson

Title: Chief Executive Officer

Agreement commenced: 5 September 2016

Term of agreement: Period of 3 years 
commencing on the date on which the Company 
is admitted to the Official Listing of the Australian 
Stock Exchange (ASX).

Details: 
The Company will pay Ms Patterson an annual 
salary (exclusive of statutory superannuation 
payments) of $250,000. Ms Patterson’s total 
remuneration package will be reviewed annually 
by the Board, with any changes to be effective 
from 1 July each year. Ms Patterson may become 
entitled to an annual cash bonus and issue of 
Options, subject to satisfying key performance 
indicators (KPIs) set by the Board annually. 

The amount and terms of any such cash bonus 
and issue of Options will be determined by the 
Board with reference to the extent, if any, that 
the Board is of the view that the applicable KPIs 
have been exceeded and the degree to which Ms 
Patterson is responsible for that outcome. 

The Company may terminate Ms Patterson’s 
employment summarily because of, among other 
things, misconduct or failure to perform duties 
specified in the Agreement and involvement in any 
illegal business practices. The Company can also 
terminate Ms Patterson’s employment by giving 
three months’ notice in writing (or payment in lieu 
of notice).

 

Name: Craig Weller

Title: Chief Operating Officer

Agreement commenced: 5 September 2016

Term of agreement: Period of 3 years 
commencing on the date on which the Company 
is admitted to the Official Listing of the Australian 
Stock Exchange (ASX).

Details:  
The Company will pay Mr Weller an annual salary 
(exclusive of statutory superannuation payments) 
of $250,000. Mr Weller’s total remuneration 
package will be reviewed annually by the Board, 
with any changes to be effective from 1 July 
each year. Mr Weller may become entitled to an 
annual cash bonus and issue of Options, subject to 
satisfying key performance indicators (KPIs) set by 
the Board annually. 

The amount and terms of any such cash bonus 
and issue of Options will be determined by the 
Board with reference to the extent, if any, that the 
Board is of the view that the applicable KPIs have 
been exceeded and the degree to which Mr Weller 
is responsible for that outcome. 

The Company may terminate Mr Weller’s 
employment summarily because of, among other 
things, misconduct or failure to perform duties 
specified in the Agreement and involvement in any 
illegal business practices. The Company can also 
terminate Mr Weller’s employment by giving three 
months’ notice in writing (or payment in lieu of 
notice).

Key management personnel have no entitlement 
to termination payments in the event of removal 
for misconduct.

The total amount provided to all non-executive 
directors must not exceed in aggregate the 
amount fixed by the Company in a general 
meeting, which is currently fixed at $300,000. 
All Directors are entitled to be paid all travelling 
and other expenses properly incurred by them 
in attending, participating in and returning from 
meetings at the Directors or any committee of 
Directors or general meetings of the company or 
otherwise in connection with the business of the 
Company. 
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Share-based compensation

Issue of shares

There were no shares issued to directors and other key management personnel as part of compensation 
during the year ended 30 June 2018.

Options

The terms and conditions of each grant of options over ordinary shares affecting remuneration of directors 
and other key management personnel in this financial year or future reporting years are as follows:

       Fair value per 
   Vesting date and  Exercise option at 
  Grant date exercisable date Expiry date  price  grant date

  

  3 August 2016 3 August 2016 3 August 2019 $0.20 $0.0859 

  3 August 2016 3 August 2016 3 August 2019 $0.25 $0.0730 

  3 August 2016 27 October 2017 3 August 2019 $0.30  $0.0628 

  3 August 2016 27 October 2018 3 August 2019 $0.35 $0.0546 

  17 November 2017 17 November 2017 17 November 2020 $0.20 $0.0814 

  17 November 2017 17 November 2018 17 November 2020 $0.25 $0.0749 

  17 November 2017 17 May 2019 17 November 2020 $0.30 $0.0694 

 

 Number of     Fair value per 
 options  Vesting date and  Exercise option at 
Name granted Grant date exercisable date Expiry date  price  grant date 
   

J. Patterson 500,000 3 August 2016 3 August 2016* 3 August 2019 $0.25 $0.0730 

J. Patterson 500,000 3 August 2016 27 October 2017* 3 August 2019 $0.30 $0.0628 

J. Patterson 500,000 3 August 2016 27 October 2018* 3 August 2019 $0.35 $0.0546 

S. Taylor 750,000  3 August 2016 3 August 2016* 3 August 2019 $0.20  $0.0859 

S. O’Loughlin 750,000 3 August 2016 3 August 2016* 3 August 2019 $0.20 $0.0859 

C. Weller 500,000  3 August 2016 3 August 2016* 3 August 2019 $0.25 $0.0730 

C. Weller 500,000  3 August 2016 27 October 2017* 3 August 2019 $0.30 $0.0628 

C. Weller 500,000  3 August 2016 27 October 2018* 3 August 2019 $0.35 $0.0546 

M. Perret 300,000  17 November 2017 17 November 2017 17 November 2020 $0.20  $0.0814 

M. Perret 500,000  17 November 2017 17 November 2018 17 November 2020 $0.25 $0.0749 

M. Perret 200,000  17 November 2017 17 May 2019 17 November 2020 $0.30  $0.0694 

* Escrowed until 27 October 2018 

Options granted carry no dividend or voting rights.

All options were granted over unissued fully paid ordinary shares in the company. The number of options 
granted was determined having regard to the satisfaction of performance measures and weightings as 
described above in the section ‘entity performance and link to remuneration’. Options vest based on the 
provision of service over the vesting period whereby the executive becomes beneficially entitled to the 
option on vesting date. Options are exercisable by the holder as from the vesting date. There has not been 
any alteration to the terms or conditions of the grant since the grant date. There are no amounts paid or 
payable by the recipient in relation to the granting of such options other than on their potential exercise.
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The number of options over ordinary shares granted to and vested by directors and other key management 
personnel as part of compensation during the year ended 30 June 2018 are set out below:

 
 Number of Number of Number of Number of
 options options options options
 granted granted vested vested
 during the during the during the during the
 year year year year
Name 2018 2017 2018 2017

   

J. Patterson - 1,500,000 500,000 500,000 

S. Taylor - 750,000 - 750,000 

S. O’Loughlin - 750,000  - 750,000 

C. Weller - 1,500,000 500,000  500,000 

M. Perret 1,000,000  - 300,000 -

Values of options over ordinary shares granted, exercised and lapsed for directors and other key 
management personnel as part of compensation during the year ended 30 June 2018 are set out below:

 
 Value of Value of Value of Remuneration
 options options options consisting of
 granted exercised lapsed options
 during the during the during the for the
 year year year year
Name $ $ $ %

    

J. Patterson - - - 7% 

S. Taylor - - - -

S. O’Loughlin - - - -

M. Perret 75,747 - - 74% 

C. Weller - - - 7%

Additional information

The earnings of the company for the four years to 30 June 2018 are summarised below:

 2018 2017 2016 2015

 $ $ $ $

Sales revenue 1,170,206 352,877 138,020 105,972

Loss for the year (3,672,105) (3,168,615) (283,802) (90,918)

Performance measured by loss per share.
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The factors that are considered to affect total shareholders’ return (‘TSR’) are summarised below:

  2018  2017 
  

Loss per share (cents) for the year ended 30 June   (7.18)   (9.24)

Share Price at 30 June (cents)  54.00   17.50 

Share Price High for year ended 30 June (cents)  72.00   31.00 

Share Price Low for the year ended 30 June (cents)  9.00   16.00 

 

Additional disclosures relating to key management personnel

Shareholding

The number of shares in the company held during the financial year by each director and other members of 
key management personnel of the company, including their personally related parties, is set out below:

 
 Balance at Received   Balance at
 the start of as part of  Disposals/ the end of 
 the year remuneration Additions other the year

Ordinary shares

J. Patterson 5,700,000 - - - 5,700,000 

S. Taylor 770,000 - - - 770,000 

S. O’Louglin 510,000 - - - 510,000 

C. Weller 5,000,000 - - - 5,000,000 

M. Perret - - 86,000  - 86,000 

 11,980,000 - 86,000 - 12,066,000 

 

Option holding

The number of options over ordinary shares in the company held during the financial year by each director 
and other members of key management personnel of the company, including their personally related 
parties, is set out below:

 
 Balance at   Expired/ Balance at 
 the start of   forfeited/ the end of 
 the year Granted Exercised other the year

Options over ordinary shares      
J. Patterson 1,500,000 - - - 1,500,000 

S. Taylor 750,000 - - - 750,000 

S. O’Loughlin 750,000 - - - 750,000 

C. Weller 1,500,000 - - - 1,500,000 

M. Perret - 1,000,000 - - 1,000,000

 4,500,000 1,000,000 - - 5,500,000  

Other transactions with key management personnel and their related parties

There have been no other transactions with key management personnel and their related parties during the 
financial year.

This concludes the remuneration report, which has been audited.
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Shares under option

Unissued ordinary shares of the company under option at the date of this report are as follows:
   Number  
Grant date Expiry date Exercise price under option

3 August 2016 3 August 2019 $0.20 1,500,000 

3 August 2016 3 August 2019 $0.25 1,000,000 

3 August 2016 3 August 2019 $0.30 1,000,000 

3 August 2016 3 August 2019 $0.35  1,000,000 

27 October 2016 27 October 2019 $0.20 2,651,600 

27 October 2016 27 October 2019 $0.30 100,000 

27 October 2016 27 October 2019 $0.35 100,000 

22 December 2016 22 December 2019 $0.30 750,000 

22 December 2016 22 December 2019 $0.35 750,000 

17 November 2017 17 November 2020 $0.20 300,000 

17 November 2017 17 November 2020 $0.25 500,000 

17 November 2017 17 November 2020 $0.30 200,000 

27 December 2017 27 December 2019 $0.40 750,000 

27 December 2017 27 December 2019 $0.48 750,000 

   11,351,600 

No person entitled to exercise the options had or has any right by virtue of the option to participate in any 
share issue of the company or of any other body corporate.

Shares issued on the exercise of options

The following ordinary shares of the company were issued during the year ended 30 June 2018 and up to 
the date of this report on the exercise of options granted:
    Number of  
Date options granted  Exercise price shares issued

16 March 2017  $0.25 200,000 

16 March 2017  $0.30 200,000 

   400,000 

 

Indemnity and insurance of officers

The company has indemnified the directors and executives of the company for costs incurred, in their 
capacity as a director or executive, for which they may be held personally liable, except where there is a 
lack of good faith.

During the financial year, the company paid a premium in respect of a contract to insure the directors and 
executives of the company against a liability to the extent permitted by the Corporations Act 2001. The 
contract of insurance prohibits disclosure of the nature of the liability and the amount of the premium.

Indemnity and insurance of auditor

The company has not, during or since the end of the financial year, indemnified or agreed to indemnify the 
auditor of the company or any related entity against a liability incurred by the auditor.

During the financial year, the company has not paid a premium in respect of a contract to insure the auditor 
of the company or any related entity.
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Proceedings on behalf of the company

No person has applied to the Court under section 237 of the Corporations Act 2001 for leave to bring 
proceedings on behalf of the company, or to intervene in any proceedings to which the company is a party 
for the purpose of taking responsibility on behalf of the company for all or part of those proceedings.

Non-audit services

Details of the amounts paid or payable to the auditors for non-audit services provided during the financial 
year by the auditor are outlined in note 20 to the financial statements.

The directors are satisfied that the provision of non-audit services during the financial year, by the auditor 
or associate firm (or by another person or firm on the auditor’s behalf), are compatible with the general 
standard of independence for auditors imposed by the Corporations Act 2001.

The directors are of the opinion that the services as disclosed in note 20 to the financial statements do 
not compromise the external auditor’s independence requirements of the Corporations Act 2001 for the 
following reasons:

•  all non-audit services have been reviewed and approved to ensure that they do not impact the integrity 
and objectivity of the auditor; and

•   none of the services undermine the general principles relating to auditor independence as set out in 
APES 110 Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants issued by the Accounting Professional and Ethical 
Standards Board, including reviewing or auditing the auditor’s own work, acting in a management 
or decision-making capacity for the company, acting as advocate for the company or jointly sharing 
economic risks and rewards.

Officers of the company who are former partners of Nexia Sydney Audit Pty Ltd.

There are no officers of the company who are former directors of HLB Mann Judd Audit (SA) Pty Ltd or 
Nexia Sydney Audit Pty Ltd.

Auditor’s independence declaration

A copy of the auditor’s independence declaration as required under section 307C of the Corporations Act 
2001 is set out immediately after this directors’ report.

Auditor

On the 19th March 2018 HLB Mann Judd Audit (SA) Pty Ltd resigned as auditor in accordance with the 
Corporations Act 2001.

On the 29th March 2018 the Board resolved to appoint Nexia Sydney Audit Pty Ltd as the Auditor. 

The Board confirmed that there were no disagreements between HLB Mann Judd Audit (SA) Pty Ltd and the 
management and directors of the company.

This report is made in accordance with a resolution of directors, pursuant to section 298(2)(a) of the 
Corporations Act 2001.

On behalf of the directors

 

Joanne Patterson 
Director and Chief Executive Officer 
31 August 2018

 

PAGE  4  |   Annual Report 2017 – BEAUTIFUL SCIENCE

Dear Shareholders,

From an operational standpoint, the financial year 

ending 30 June 2017 (‘FY2017’) has been a period of 

exceptional development for Bod Australia.

The Company has made solid gains across its 

core evidence-based natural skin care, and health 

solutions business, while simultaneously laying solid 

foundations for long-term growth in the rapidly 

emerging medicinal cannabis market.

Building on a successful initial public offering (IPO), 

Bod’s key achievements in FY2017 have included 

strengthening its portfolio of premium skin care and 

evidence-based natural health products, expanding 

sales channels and entering into the research and 

development stages with our medicinal cannabis 

offering.

I am delighted to report that Bod’s portfolio of 

premium skin and health care brands is now stronger 

than ever as a result through our introduction 

of Flexofytol® anti-inflammatory products into 

the Australian and Asian markets, alongside the 

recognised and established Pommade Divine brand.

Bod is delivering on the product development 

objectives outlined in the Company’s prospectus 

through the launch of the Pinpoint product line, which 

is medically proven to improve mental performance in 

adults and children aged seven years and over.

These new product lines complement Bod’s existing 

exclusive Australian distribution agreement for 

BIOEFFECT, an award-winning serum based on the 

cellular activator that speeds up the skin’s natural 

renewal process to rejuvenate complexion and banish 

signs of ageing. 

Having built a strong portfolio of integrated evidence-

based health and skin care brands, Bod has also 

strengthened its sales pipeline and expanded its 

channels to market through agreements with leading 

retailers and distributors.

In FY2017, Bod added a range of major retail partners 

including Ritchie’s IGA supermarkets and Alpha 

inflight duty-free services, along with Australian 

Pharmaceutical Industries’ network of 3,000 Priceline, 

Soul Pattinson, Pharmacist Advice and Club Premium 

retail outlets.

These new channels are in addition to Bod’s 

established distribution partnerships with David Jones, 

Sephora, independent pharmacies, and direct sales to 

consumers online.

Bod’s strong market position, extensive distribution 

agreements, and leading expertise in the evidence-

based natural skin care, and health solutions markets 

ensures that it is ideally placed to build a highly-

integrated medicinal cannabis business.

We believe there are a multitude of opportunities 

for Bod in the cannabis market, including both 

therapeutic uses and broader health applications and 

we look forward to updating shareholders as these 

opportunities arise. 

The Company will also continue to explore 

acquisitions or other corporate opportunities to assist 

in realising further value for shareholders. 

Bod has taken a number of steps to pursue 

opportunities in the cannabis space by signing a 

binding letter of intent (LOI) with Linnea, establishing 

a Medicinal Cannabis Advisory Board, and appointing 

leading medicinal cannabis expert Mr. Mickey Perret 

as a Non-Executive Director.

Overall, in FY2017 Bod has delivered on a number 

of fronts from an operational perspective including 

additional products, securing major distribution 

agreements with leading brands, expanding 

distribution, signing an LOI with Linnea, and exploring 

profit-accretive acquisitions. The Company is now 

well-position to build on these successes to realise 

growth in FY2018.

Yours sincerely,

Jo Patterson 

Chief Executive Officer

CEO’S REPORT
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AUDITOR’S 
INDEPENDENCE 
DECLARATION

To the Board of Directors of Bod Australia Limited 

Auditor’s Independence Declaration under section 307C of the Corporations Act 2001

As lead audit director for the audit of the financial statements of Bod Australia Limited for the financial year 
ended 30 June 2018, I declare that to the best of my knowledge and belief, there have been no 
contraventions of: 

(a) the auditor independence requirements of the Corporations Act 2001 in relation to the audit; and 

(b) any applicable code of professional conduct in relation to the audit. 

Yours sincerely 

Nexia Sydney Audit Pty Ltd 

Joseph Santangelo 
Director 

Date: 31 August 2018 

To the Board of Directors of Bod Australia Limited 

Auditor’s Independence Declaration under section 307C of the Corporations Act 2001

As lead audit director for the audit of the financial statements of Bod Australia Limited for the financial year 
ended 30 June 2018, I declare that to the best of my knowledge and belief, there have been no 
contraventions of: 

(a) the auditor independence requirements of the Corporations Act 2001 in relation to the audit; and 

(b) any applicable code of professional conduct in relation to the audit. 

Yours sincerely 

Nexia Sydney Audit Pty Ltd 

Joseph Santangelo 
Director 

Date: 31 August 2018 
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BASIS OF 
PRESENTATION  

The financial statements cover BOD Australia Limited as an individual entity. The financial statements are 
presented in Australian dollars, which is BOD Australia Limited’s functional and presentation currency.

BOD Australia Limited is a listed public company limited by shares, incorporated and domiciled in Australia. 
Its registered office and principal place of business are:

Registered office Principal place of business

Suite 2, Level 10, Level 1 
70 Phillip Street, 377 New South Head Road 
Sydney NSW 2000 Double Bay NSW 2028

A description of the nature of the company’s operations and its principal activities are included in the 
directors’ report, which is not part of the financial statements.

The financial statements were authorised for issue, in accordance with a resolution of directors, on 31 
August 2018. The directors have the power to amend and reissue the financial statements.
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 Note 2018 2017 
  $ $

Revenue 4 1,170,206 352,877

Expenses

Other operating expenses 5 (3,866,159) (1,571,033)

Employee benefits expense  (744,118) (1,216,805)

Depreciation and amortisation expense  (29,886) (17,334)

Share-based payment expenses  (202,148) (390,150)

Listing expenses  - (299,478)

Finance costs  - (26,692)

Loss before income tax expense  (3,672,105) (3,168,615)

Income tax expense 6 - -  

Loss after income tax expense for the year attributable  
to the owners of BOD Australia Limited 16 (3,672,105) (3,168,615)

 

Other comprehensive income for the year, net of tax  - -   

Total comprehensive income for the year attributable  
to the owners of BOD Australia Limited  (3,672,105) (3,168,615)

     
  Cents Cents

Basic loss per share 25 (7.18) (9.24)

Diluted loss per share 25 (7.18) (9.24)

 

STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS  
AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME  
AS AT 30 JUNE 2018

The above statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income should be read in conjunction 
with the accompanying notes.
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STATEMENT OF 
FINANCIAL POSITION 
AS AT 30 JUNE 2018

 Note 2018 2017 
  $ $

Assets

Current assets

Cash and cash equivalents 7 3,115,414 3,034,209

Trade and other receivables  74,269 19,761

Inventories 8 465,133 361,928

Other assets 9 132,737  132,016 

Total current assets  3,787,553  3,547,914 

Non-current assets

Other financial assets 10 - 34,013

Plant and equipment 11 42,548  25,647 

Total non-current assets  42,548 59,660 

Total assets  3,830,101 3,607,574 

Liabilities

Current liabilities

Trade and other payables 12 1,150,425 578,556

Provisions 13 60,957 28,165 

Total current liabilities  1,211,382 606,721 

Total liabilities  1,211,382 606,721 

Net assets  2,618,719 3,000,853 

Equity

Issued capital 14 9,001,814 5,955,180

Reserves 15 832,345 589,008

Accumulated losses 16 (7,215,440)  (3,543,335)

Total equity  2,618,719 3,000,853 

The above statement of financial position should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.
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STATEMENT OF 
CHANGES IN EQUITY
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2018

 Issued  Accumulated 
 capital Reserves losses Total equity 
 $ $ $ $

Balance at 1 July 2016 4 - (374,720) (374,716)

Loss after income tax expense for the year - - (3,168,615) (3,168,615)

Other comprehensive income for the year, net of tax - - - - 

Total comprehensive income for the year - - (3,168,615) (3,168,615)

Transactions with owners in their capacity as owners:

Contributions of equity,  
net of transaction costs (note 14) 5,955,176 198,858 - 6,154,034

Share-based payments (note 27)  - 390,150 -  390,150 

Balance at 30 June 2017 5,955,180 589,008 (3,543,335) 3,000,853 

 Issued  Accumulated 
 capital Reserves losses Total equity 
 $ $ $ $

Balance at 1 July 2017 5,955,180 589,008 (3,543,335) 3,000,853

Loss after income tax expense for the year - - (3,672,105) (3,672,105)

Other comprehensive income for the year, net of tax - -   - - 

Total comprehensive income for the year - - (3,672,105) (3,672,105)

Transactions with owners in their capacity as owners: 

Contributions of equity,  
net of transaction costs (note 14) 3,014,594 - - 3,014,594

Share-based payments (note 27) - 275,377 - 275,377

Transfer from option reserve to share capital  
on exercise of options 32,040 (32,040) - - 

Balance at 30 June 2018 9,001,814 832,345 (7,215,440) 2,618,719 

The above statement of changes in equity should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.
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The above statement of cash flows should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.

STATEMENT 
OF CASH FLOWS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2018

 Note 2018 2017 
  $ $

Cash flows from operating activities

Receipts from customers (inclusive of GST)  1,082,682 337,848 

Payments to suppliers and employees (inclusive of GST)  (4,085,450) (2,698,782)

Interest paid  - (3,492)

Interest received  41,045 -  

Net cash used in operating activities 24 (2,961,723) (2,364,426)

Cash flows from investing activities   

Payments for plant and equipment 11 (46,787) (42,981)

Net cash used in investing activities  (46,787) (42,981)

Cash flows from financing activities

Proceeds from issue of shares 14 3,310,000 6,000,000 

Proceeds from issue of convertible notes  -   50,000 

Loan to other party  - (34,013)

Share issue transaction costs  (220,285) (766,950)

Repayment of borrowings  -  (190,685)

Net cash from financing activities  3,089,715 5,058,352 

Net increase in cash and cash equivalents  81,205 2,650,945 

Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the financial year  3,034,209 383,264 

Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the financial year 7 3,115,414 3,034,209 
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NOTES TO THE  
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Note 1. Significant accounting policies

The principal accounting policies adopted in the preparation of the financial statements are set out below. 
These policies have been consistently applied to all the years presented, unless otherwise stated.

New or amended Accounting Standards and Interpretations adopted

The company has adopted all of the new or amended Accounting Standards and Interpretations issued by 
the Australian Accounting Standards Board (‘AASB’) that are mandatory for the current reporting period.

Any other new or amended Accounting Standards or Interpretations that are not yet mandatory have not 
been early adopted.  The adoption of these Accounting Standards and Interpretations did not have any 
significant impact on the financial performance or position of the entity.

Basis of preparation

These general purpose financial statements have been prepared in accordance with Australian Accounting 
Standards and Interpretations issued by the Australian Accounting Standards Board (‘AASB’) and the 
Corporations Act 2001, as appropriate for for-profit oriented entities. These financial statements also 
comply with International Financial Reporting Standards as issued by the International Accounting 
Standards Board (‘IASB’).

Historical cost convention

The financial statements have been prepared under the historical cost convention, except for, where 
applicable, the revaluation of available-for-sale financial assets, financial assets and liabilities at fair value 
through profit or loss, investment properties, certain classes of property, plant and equipment and derivative 
financial instruments.

Critical accounting estimates

The preparation of the financial statements requires the use of certain critical accounting estimates. It 
also requires management to exercise its judgement in the process of applying the company’s accounting 
policies. The areas involving a higher degree of judgement or complexity, or areas where assumptions and 
estimates are significant to the financial statements, are disclosed in note 2.

Going concern

The financial statements have been prepared on the basis of a going concern. The financial report shows 
the Company incurred a net loss of $3,672,105 (2017: $3,168,615) and net cash outflows from operating 
activities of $2,961,723 (2017: $2,364,426) during the year ended 30 June 2018. The company continues to 
be economically dependent on generation of cash flow from its business and/or raising additional capital 
for the continued operations and provision of working capital.  The company’s ability to continue as a going 
concern is contingent upon generation of cashflow from its business and/or successfully raising additional 
capital. If sufficient cash flow is not generated and/or additional funds are not raised, the going concern 
basis may not be appropriate, with the net results that the Company may have to realise its assets and 
extinguish its liabilities, other than in the ordinary course of business and at amounts different from those 
stated in the financial report. No allowance or such circumstances has been made in the financial report.

Operating segments

Operating segments are presented using the ‘management approach’, where the information presented 
is on the same basis as the internal reports provided to the Chief Operating Decision Makers (‘CODM’). 
The CODM is responsible for the allocation of resources to operating segments and assessing their 
performance.
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Foreign currency translation

The financial statements are presented in Australian dollars, which is BOD Australia Limited’s functional and 
presentation currency.

Foreign currency transactions 

Foreign currency transactions are translated into Australian dollars using the exchange rates prevailing at 
the dates of the transactions. Foreign exchange gains and losses resulting from the settlement of such 
transactions and from the translation at financial year-end exchange rates of monetary assets and liabilities 
denominated in foreign currencies are recognised in profit or loss.

Revenue recognition

Revenue is recognised when it is probable that the economic benefit will flow to the company and the 
revenue can be reliably measured. Revenue is measured at the fair value of the consideration received or 
receivable.

Sale of goods

Sale of goods revenue is recognised at the point of sale, which is where the customer has taken delivery of 
the goods, the risks and rewards are transferred to the customer and there is a valid sales contract. Amounts 
disclosed as revenue are net of sales returns and trade discounts.

Interest

Interest revenue is recognised as interest accrues using the effective interest method. This is a method 
of calculating the amortised cost of a financial asset and allocating the interest income over the relevant 
period using the effective interest rate, which is the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash 
receipts through the expected life of the financial asset to the net carrying amount of the financial asset.

Other revenue

Other revenue is recognised when it is received or when the right to receive payment is established.

Income tax

The income tax expense or benefit for the period is the tax payable on that period’s taxable income based 
on the applicable income tax rate for each jurisdiction, adjusted by the changes in deferred tax assets and 
liabilities attributable to temporary differences, unused tax losses and the adjustment recognised for prior 
periods, where applicable.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are recognised for temporary differences at the tax rates expected to be 
applied when the assets are recovered or liabilities are settled, based on those tax rates that are enacted or 
substantively enacted, except for:

•  When the deferred income tax asset or liability arises from the initial recognition of goodwill or an asset or 
liability in a transaction that is not a business combination and that, at the time of the transaction, affects 
neither the accounting nor taxable profits; or

•  When the taxable temporary difference is associated with interests in subsidiaries, associates or joint 
ventures, and the timing of the reversal can be controlled and it is probable that the temporary difference 
will not reverse in the foreseeable future.

Deferred tax assets are recognised for deductible temporary differences and unused tax losses only if it is 
probable that future taxable amounts will be available to utilise those temporary differences and losses.

The carrying amount of recognised and unrecognised deferred tax assets are reviewed at each reporting 
date. Deferred tax assets recognised are reduced to the extent that it is no longer probable that future 
taxable profits will be available for the carrying amount to be recovered. Previously unrecognised deferred 
tax assets are recognised to the extent that it is probable that there are future taxable profits available to 
recover the asset.
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NOTES TO THE 
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
CONTINUED

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset only where there is a legally enforceable right to offset current 
tax assets against current tax liabilities and deferred tax assets against deferred tax liabilities; and they relate 
to the same taxable authority on either the same taxable entity or different taxable entities which intend to 
settle simultaneously.

Current and non-current classification

Assets and liabilities are presented in the statement of financial position based on current and non-current 
classification.

An asset is classified as current when: it is either expected to be realised or intended to be sold or 
consumed in the company’s normal operating cycle; it is held primarily for the purpose of trading; it is 
expected to be realised within 12 months after the reporting period; or the asset is cash or cash equivalent 
unless restricted from being exchanged or used to settle a liability for at least 12 months after the reporting 
period. All other assets are classified as non-current.

A liability is classified as current when: it is either expected to be settled in the company’s normal operating 
cycle; it is held primarily for the purpose of trading; it is due to be settled within 12 months after the 
reporting period; or there is no unconditional right to defer the settlement of the liability for at least 12 
months after the reporting period. All other liabilities are classified as non-current.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are always classified as non-current.

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents includes cash on hand, deposits held at call with financial institutions, other 
short-term, highly liquid investments with original maturities of three months or less that are readily 
convertible to known amounts of cash and which are subject to an insignificant risk of changes in value.

Trade and other receivables

Trade receivables are initially recognised at fair value and subsequently measured at amortised cost using 
the effective interest method, less any provision for impairment. Trade receivables are generally due for 
settlement within 30 days.

Collectability of trade receivables is reviewed on an ongoing basis. Debts which are known to be 
uncollectable are written off by reducing the carrying amount directly. A provision for impairment of 
trade receivables is raised when there is objective evidence that the company will not be able to collect 
all amounts due according to the original terms of the receivables. Significant financial difficulties of 
the debtor, probability that the debtor will enter bankruptcy or financial reorganisation and default or 
delinquency in payments (more than 60 days overdue) are considered indicators that the trade receivable 
may be impaired. The amount of the impairment allowance is the difference between the asset’s carrying 
amount and the present value of estimated future cash flows, discounted at the original effective interest 
rate. Cash flows relating to short-term receivables are not discounted if the effect of discounting is 
immaterial.  

Other receivables are recognised at amortised cost, less any provision for impairment.

Inventories

Finished goods are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable value on a standard cost basis. Cost 
of inventory is determined using the standard cost and comprises of purchase and delivery costs, net 
of rebates and discounts received or receivable.   Stock on hand is stated at the lower of cost and net 
realisable value. Cost comprises of purchase and delivery costs, net of rebates and discounts received or 
receivable.

Net realisable value is the estimated selling price in the ordinary course of business less the estimated costs 
of completion and the estimated costs necessary to make the sale.
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Plant and equipment

Plant and equipment is stated at historical cost less accumulated depreciation and impairment. Historical 
cost includes expenditure that is directly attributable to the acquisition of the items.

Depreciation is calculated on a straight-line basis to write off the net cost of each item of property, plant 
and equipment (excluding land) over their expected useful lives as follows:

Plant and equipment  1-3 years

The residual values, useful lives and depreciation methods are reviewed, and adjusted if appropriate, at each 
reporting date.

An item of property, plant and equipment is derecognised upon disposal or when there is no future 
economic benefit to the company. Gains and losses between the carrying amount and the disposal 
proceeds are taken to profit or loss. Any revaluation surplus reserve relating to the item disposed of is 
transferred directly to retained profits.

Research and development

Research costs are expensed in the period in which they are incurred. Development costs are capitalised 
when it is probable that the project will be a success considering its commercial and technical feasibility; 
the entity is able to use or sell the asset; the entity has sufficient resources; and intent to complete the 
development and its costs can be measured reliably.

Provisions

Provisions are recognised when the entity has a present (legal or constructive) obligation as a result of 
a past event, it is probable the entity will be required to settle the obligation, and a reliable estimate can 
be made of the amount of the obligation. The amount recognised as a provision is the best estimate of 
the consideration required to settle the present obligation at the reporting date, taking into account the 
risks and uncertainties surrounding the obligation. If the time value of money is material, provisions are 
discounted using a current pre-tax rate specific to the liability. The increase in the provision resulting from 
the passage of time is recognised as a finance cost.

Trade and other payables

These amounts represent liabilities for goods and services provided to the company prior to the end of the 
financial year and which are unpaid. Due to their short-term nature they are measured at amortised cost 
and are not discounted. The amounts are unsecured and are usually paid within 30 days of recognition.

Employee benefits

Short-term employee benefits

Liabilities for wages and salaries, including non-monetary benefits, annual leave and long service leave 
expected to be settled wholly within 12 months of the reporting date are measured at the amounts 
expected to be paid when the liabilities are settled.

Share-based payments

Equity-settled and cash-settled share-based compensation benefits are provided to employees.

Equity-settled transactions are awards of shares, or options over shares, that are provided to employees in 
exchange for the rendering of services. Cash-settled transactions are awards of cash for the exchange of 
services, where the amount of cash is determined by reference to the share price.
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The cost of equity-settled transactions are measured at fair value on grant date. Fair value is independently 
determined using Black-Scholes option pricing model that takes into account the exercise price, the 
term of the option, the impact of dilution, the share price at grant date and expected price volatility of 
the underlying share, the expected dividend yield and the risk free interest rate for the term of the option, 
together with non-vesting conditions that do not determine whether the company receives the services 
that entitle the employees to receive payment. No account is taken of any other vesting conditions.

The cost of equity-settled transactions are recognised as an expense with a corresponding increase in 
equity over the vesting period. The cumulative charge to profit or loss is calculated based on the grant date 
fair value of the award, the best estimate of the number of awards that are likely to vest and the expired 
portion of the vesting period. The amount recognised in profit or loss for the period is the cumulative 
amount calculated at each reporting date less amounts already recognised in previous periods.

The cost of cash-settled transactions is initially, and at each reporting date until vested, determined by 
applying the Black-Scholes option pricing model, taking into consideration the terms and conditions on 
which the award was granted. The cumulative charge to profit or loss until settlement of the liability is 
calculated as follows:

•  during the vesting period, the liability at each reporting date is the fair value of the award at that date 
multiplied by the expired portion of the vesting period.

•  from the end of the vesting period until settlement of the award, the liability is the full fair value of the 
liability at the reporting date.

All changes in the liability are recognised in profit or loss. The ultimate cost of cash-settled transactions is 
the cash paid to settle the liability.

Market conditions are taken into consideration in determining fair value. Therefore any awards subject to 
market conditions are considered to vest irrespective of whether or not that market condition has been 
met, provided all other conditions are satisfied.

If equity-settled awards are modified, as a minimum an expense is recognised as if the modification has not 
been made. An additional expense is recognised, over the remaining vesting period, for any modification 
that increases the total fair value of the share-based compensation benefit as at the date of modification.

If the non-vesting condition is within the control of the company or employee, the failure to satisfy the 
condition is treated as a cancellation. If the condition is not within the control of the company or employee 
and is not satisfied during the vesting period, any remaining expense for the award is recognised over the 
remaining vesting period, unless the award is forfeited.

If equity-settled awards are cancelled, it is treated as if it has vested on the date of cancellation, and any 
remaining expense is recognised immediately. If a new replacement award is substituted for the cancelled 
award, the cancelled and new award is treated as if they were a modification.

Fair value measurement

When an asset or liability, financial or non-financial, is measured at fair value for recognition or disclosure 
purposes, the fair value is based on the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a 
liability in an orderly transaction between market participants at the measurement date; and assumes that 
the transaction will take place either: in the principal market; or in the absence of a principal market, in the 
most advantageous market.

Fair value is measured using the assumptions that market participants would use when pricing the asset 
or liability, assuming they act in their economic best interests. For non-financial assets, the fair value 
measurement is based on its highest and best use. Valuation techniques that are appropriate in the 
circumstances and for which sufficient data are available to measure fair value, are used, maximising the 
use of relevant observable inputs and minimising the use of unobservable inputs.

 

NOTES TO THE 
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
CONTINUED
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Issued capital

Ordinary shares are classified as equity.

Incremental costs directly attributable to the issue of new shares or options are shown in equity as a 
deduction, net of tax, from the proceeds.

Earnings per share

Basic earnings per share

Basic earnings per share is calculated by dividing the profit attributable to the owners of BOD Australia 
Limited, excluding any costs of servicing equity other than ordinary shares, by the weighted average 
number of ordinary shares outstanding during the financial year, adjusted for bonus elements in ordinary 
shares issued during the financial year.

Diluted earnings per share

Diluted earnings per share adjusts the figures used in the determination of basic earnings per share to 
take into account the after income tax effect of interest and other financing costs associated with dilutive 
potential ordinary shares and the weighted average number of shares assumed to have been issued for no 
consideration in relation to dilutive potential ordinary shares.

Goods and Services Tax (‘GST’) and other similar taxes

Revenues, expenses and assets are recognised net of the amount of associated GST, unless the GST 
incurred is not recoverable from the tax authority. In this case it is recognised as part of the cost of the 
acquisition of the asset or as part of the expense.

Receivables and payables are stated inclusive of the amount of GST receivable or payable. The net amount 
of GST recoverable from, or payable to, the tax authority is included in other receivables or other payables 
in the statement of financial position.

Cash flows are presented on a gross basis. The GST components of cash flows arising from investing or 
financing activities which are recoverable from, or payable to the tax authority, are presented as operating 
cash flows.

Commitments and contingencies are disclosed net of the amount of GST recoverable from, or payable to, 
the tax authority.

New Accounting Standards and Interpretations not yet mandatory or early adopted

Australian Accounting Standards and Interpretations that have recently been issued or amended but are 
not yet mandatory, have not been early adopted by the company for the annual reporting period ended 
30 June 2018. The new and amended Standards apply to annual reporting periods beginning on or after 1 
January 2018. 

The company’s assessment of the impact of these new or amended Accounting Standards and 
Interpretations, most relevant to the company, are set out below.

AASB 9 Financial Instruments 

The standard replaces all previous versions of AASB 9 and completes the project to replace IAS 39 ‘Financial 
Instruments: Recognition and Measurement’. AASB 9 introduces new classification and measurement 
models for financial assets. A financial asset shall be measured at amortised cost, if it is held within a 
business model whose objective is to hold assets in order to collect contractual cash flows, which arise 
on specified dates and solely principal and interest. All other financial instrument assets are to be classified 
and measured at fair value through profit or loss unless the entity makes an irrevocable election on initial 
recognition to present gains and losses on equity instruments (that are not held-for-trading) in other 
comprehensive income (‘OCI’). For financial liabilities, the standard requires the portion of the change 
in fair value that relates to the entity’s own credit risk to be presented in OCI (unless it would create an 
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accounting mismatch). New simpler hedge accounting requirements are intended to more closely align the 
accounting treatment with the risk management activities of the entity. New impairment requirements will 
use an ‘expected credit loss’ (‘ECL’) model to recognise an allowance. Impairment will be measured under a 
12-month ECL method unless the credit risk on a financial instrument has increased significantly since initial 
recognition in which case the lifetime ECL method is adopted. The standard introduces additional new 
disclosures. The entity will adopt this standard from 1 July 2018 and the impact of its adoption is expected 
to be minimal on the entity. 

AASB 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers 

The standard provides a single standard for revenue recognition. The core principle of the standard is that 
an entity will recognise revenue to depict the transfer of promised goods or services to customers in an 
amount that reflects the consideration to which the entity expects to be entitled in exchange for those 
goods or services. The standard will require: contracts (either written, verbal or implied) to be identified, 
together with the separate performance obligations within the contract; determine the transaction price, 
adjusted for the time value of money excluding credit risk; allocation of the transaction price to the 
separate performance obligations on a basis of relative stand-alone selling price of each distinct good or 
service, or estimation approach if no distinct observable prices exist; and recognition of revenue when 
each performance obligation is satisfied. Credit risk will be presented separately as an expense rather than 
adjusted to revenue. For goods, the performance obligation would be satisfied when the customer obtains 
control of the goods. For services, the performance obligation is satisfied when the service has been 
provided, typically for promises to transfer services to customers. For performance obligations satisfied over 
time, an entity would select an appropriate measure of progress to determine how much revenue should 
be recognised as the performance obligation is satisfied. Contracts with customers will be presented in an 
entity’s statement of financial position as a contract liability, a contract asset, or a receivable, depending on 
the relationship between the entity’s performance and the customer’s payment. Sufficient quantitative and 
qualitative disclosure is required to enable users to understand the contracts with customers; the significant 
judgments made in applying the guidance to those contracts; and any assets recognised from the costs 
to obtain or fulfil a contract with a customer. The entity will adopt this standard from 1 July 2018 and the 
impact of its adoption is expected to be minimal on the entity.

AASB 16 Leases

This standard is applicable to annual reporting periods beginning on or after 1 January 2019. The standard 
replaces AASB 117 ‘Leases’ and for lessees will eliminate the classifications of operating leases and finance 
leases. Subject to exceptions, a ‘right-of-use’ asset will be capitalised in the statement of financial position, 
measured at the present value of the unavoidable future lease payments to be made over the lease term. 
The exceptions relate to short-term leases of 12 months or less and leases of low-value assets (such as 
personal computers and small office furniture) where an accounting policy choice exists whereby either 
a ‘right-of-use’ asset is recognised or lease payments are expensed to profit or loss as incurred. A liability 
corresponding to the capitalised lease will also be recognised, adjusted for lease prepayments, lease 
incentives received, initial direct costs incurred and an estimate of any future restoration, removal or 
dismantling costs. Straight-line operating lease expense recognition will be replaced with a depreciation 
charge for the leased asset (included in operating costs) and an interest expense on the recognised lease 
liability (included in finance costs). In the earlier periods of the lease, the expenses associated with the lease 
under AASB 16 will be higher when compared to lease expenses under AASB 117. However EBITDA (Earnings 
Before Interest, Tax, Depreciation and Amortisation) results will be improved as the operating expense is 
replaced by interest expense and depreciation in profit or loss under AASB 16. For classification within the 
statement of cash flows, the lease payments will be separated into both a principal (financing activities) and 
interest (either operating or financing activities) component. For lessor accounting, the standard does not 
substantially change how a lessor accounts for leases. The company will adopt this standard from 1 July 
2019 but the impact of its adoption is yet to be assessed by the company.
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IASB revised Conceptual Framework for Financial Reporting

The revised Conceptual Framework has been issued by the International Accounting Standards Board 
(‘IASB’), but the Australian equivalent has yet to be published. The revised framework is applicable for annual 
reporting periods beginning on or after 1 January 2020 and the application of the new definition and 
recognition criteria may result in future amendments to several accounting standards. Furthermore, entities 
who rely on the conceptual framework in determining their accounting policies for transactions, events or 
conditions that are not otherwise dealt with under Australian Accounting Standards may need to revisit such 
policies. The company will apply the revised conceptual framework from 1 July 2020 and is yet to assess its 
impact.

Note 2. Critical accounting judgements, estimates and assumptions

The preparation of the financial statements requires management to make judgements, estimates and 
assumptions that affect the reported amounts in the financial statements. Management continually 
evaluates its judgements and estimates in relation to assets, liabilities, contingent liabilities, revenue and 
expenses. Management bases its judgements, estimates and assumptions on historical experience and 
on other various factors, including expectations of future events, management believes to be reasonable 
under the circumstances. The resulting accounting judgements and estimates will seldom equal the related 
actual results. The judgements, estimates and assumptions that have a significant risk of causing a material 
adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities (refer to the respective notes) within the next 
financial year are discussed below.

Share-based payment transactions

The company measures the cost of equity-settled transactions with employees by reference to the fair 
value of the equity instruments at the date at which they are granted. The fair value is determined by using 
either the Binomial or Black-Scholes model taking into account the terms and conditions upon which the 
instruments were granted. The accounting estimates and assumptions relating to equity-settled share-
based payments would have no impact on the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within the next 
annual reporting period but may impact profit or loss and equity.

Provision for impairment of inventories

The provision for impairment of inventories assessment requires a degree of estimation and judgement. 
The level of the provision is assessed by taking into account the recent sales experience, the ageing of 
inventories and other factors that affect inventory obsolescence.

Estimation of useful lives of assets

The company determines the estimated useful lives and related depreciation and amortisation charges for 
its property, plant and equipment and finite life intangible assets. The useful lives could change significantly 
as a result of technical innovations or some other event. The depreciation and amortisation charge will 
increase where the useful lives are less than previously estimated lives, or technically obsolete or non-
strategic assets that have been abandoned or sold will be written off or written down.

Income tax

The company is subject to income taxes in the jurisdictions in which it operates. Significant judgement 
is required in determining the provision for income tax. There are many transactions and calculations 
undertaken during the ordinary course of business for which the ultimate tax determination is uncertain. 
The company recognises liabilities for anticipated tax audit issues based on the company’s current 
understanding of the tax law. Where the final tax outcome of these matters is different from the carrying 
amounts, such differences will impact the current and deferred tax provisions in the period in which such 
determination is made.
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Note 3. Operating segments 
  
Identification of reportable operating segments 
The Company only currently has a single operating segment being the developer and distributor of natural, evidence-based 
skin care and health products. The Company's operations and assets are all located in Australia. 
  
The Chief Operating Decision Maker (CODM - identified as the Board of Directors) reviews the performance of the entity by 
reviewing the growth in sales revenue. The accounting policies adopted for internal reporting to the CODM are consistent 
with those adopted in the financial statements. 
  
The information reported to the CODM is on a monthly basis. 
  

Note 4. Revenue 
  
  2018  2017 
  $  $ 
     
Sales revenue     
Gross sale of goods  893,699   347,266  
Trading terms  (42,042)  -   
  851,657   347,266  
     
Other revenue     
- consultant revenue  -    5,000  
- freight and shipping revenue  1,126   611  
Interest  41,045   -   
Research and development incentive  276,378   -   
  318,549   5,611  
     
Revenue  1,170,206   352,877  
  

Note 5. Other operating expenses 
  
  2018  2017 
  $  $ 
     
Cost of sales  456,492   205,765  
Accounting and professional fees  313,904   114,502  
Bank charges  2,484   1,630  
Auditing or reviewing the financial statements  55,682   40,811  
Advertising  1,084,446   625,634  
Rental expenses  129,956   57,893  
Legal expenses  89,815   45,801  
Research and development  1,067,221   65,439  
Write off of inventories  132,000   -   
Write off of financial assets  68,033   -   
Other expenses  466,126   413,558  
     
  3,866,159   1,571,033  
  

Note 3. Operating segments

Identification of reportable operating segments

The Company only currently has a single operating segment being the developer and distributor of natural, 
evidence-based skin care and health products. The Company’s operations and assets are all located in 
Australia.

The Chief Operating Decision Maker (CODM - identified as the Board of Directors) reviews the performance 
of the entity by reviewing the growth in sales revenue. The accounting policies adopted for internal 
reporting to the CODM are consistent with those adopted in the financial statements.

The information reported to the CODM is on a monthly basis.

Note 4. Revenue

 2018 2017 
 $ $

Sales revenue   
Gross sale of goods 893,699 347,266 

Trading terms (42,042) -  

 851,657 347,266 

Other revenue  

- consultant revenue - 5,000 

- freight and shipping revenue 1,126  611 

Interest 41,045 -  

Research and development incentive 276,378 -  

 318,549 5,611 

Revenue 1,170,206 352,877 

Note 5. Other operating expenses

 2018 2017 
 $ $

Cost of sales 456,492 205,765 

Accounting and professional fees 313,904 114,502 

Bank charges 2,484 1,630 

Auditing or reviewing the financial statements 55,682 40,811 

Advertising 1,084,446 625,634 

Rental expenses 129,956 57,893 

Legal expenses 89,815 45,801 

Research and development 1,067,221 65,439 

Write off of inventories 132,000 -  

Write off of financial assets 68,033 -  

Other expenses 466,126 413,558 

 3,866,159 1,571,033 
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Note 6. Income tax expense 

 2018 2017 
 $ $

Numerical reconciliation of income tax expense and tax at the statutory rate  

Loss before income tax expense (3,672,105) (3,168,615)

Tax at the statutory tax rate of 27.5% (2017: 30%) (1,009,829) (950,585)

Tax effect amounts which are not deductible/(taxable)  
in calculating taxable income:    

Share-based payments 55,591 117,045 

Listing expenses - 89,843 

Research and development incentive (75,997) 

Research and development expenses 293,486 -

 (736,749) (743,697)

Current year tax losses not recognised 736,749 743,697 

Income tax expense - -

Tax losses not recognised

Unused tax losses for which no deferred tax asset has been recognised 5,275,966 2,596,876

Potential tax benefit at statutory tax rates @ 27.5% (2017: 27.5%) 1,450,890 714,141 

The above potential tax benefit for tax losses has not been recognised in the statement of financial position. 
These tax losses can only be utilised in the future if the continuity of ownership test is passed, or failing that, 
the same business test is passed

Note 7. Current assets - cash and cash equivalents 

 2018 2017 
 $ $

Cash at bank and cash on hand 3,005,414 1,034,209 

Cash on deposit 110,000 2,000,000 

 3,115,414 3,034,209 

Note 8. Current assets - inventories 

 2018 2017 
 $ $

Finished goods - at cost 599,163 361,928 

Less: Provision for impairment (134,030) -  

 465,133 361,928 
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Note 9. Current assets - other assets 

 2018 2017 
 $ $

Prepayments 22,823 48,250 

Other receivables 93,975 67,827 

Other deposits 15,939 15,939 

 132,737 132,016 

Note 10. Non-current assets - other financial assets 

 2018 2017 
 $ $

Loan - Pommade Divine - 34,013 

During the period, the Company wrote off amounts owing from Pommade Divine (consisting of other 
receivables of $34,013 and a loan of $34,013) as the borrower entered into liquidation. 

Note 11. Non-current assets - plant and equipment 

 2018 2017 
 $ $

Plant and equipment - at cost 93,986 42,981 

Less: Accumulated depreciation (51,438) (17,334)

 42,548 25,647 

 

Reconciliations

Reconciliations of the written down values at the beginning  
and end of the current and previous financial year are set out below: 
 Plant and equipment Total 
 $ $

Balance at 1 July 2016 - -  

Additions 42,981 42,981 

Depreciation expense (17,334) (17,334)

Balance at 30 June 2017 25,647 25,647 

Additions 46,787 46,787 

Depreciation expense (29,886) (29,886)

Balance at 30 June 2018 42,548 42,548 
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Note 12. Current liabilities - trade and other payables 
  
  2018  2017 
  $  $ 
     
Trade payables  1,007,735   400,224  
Other payables and accruals  83,026   75,374  
Superannuation Payable  27,468   25,092  
PAYG Withholding Payable  32,196   77,866  
     
  1,150,425   578,556  
  
Refer to note 18 for further information on financial instruments. 
  

Note 13. Current liabilities - provisions 
  
  2018  2017 
  $  $ 
     
Annual leave  60,957   28,165  
  

Note 14. Equity - issued capital 
  
  2018  2017  2018  2017 
  Shares  Shares  $  $ 
         
Ordinary shares - fully paid  56,432,000   46,032,000   9,001,814   5,955,180  
  
Movements in ordinary share capital 
  
Details  Date  Shares    $ 
         
Balance  1 July 2016  10,000,000     4  
Conversion of convertible notes    6,032,000   $0.00  603,200  
Initial public offer    30,000,000   $0.00  6,000,000  
Less share issue costs    -  $0.00  (648,024) 
         
Balance  30 June 2017  46,032,000     5,955,180  
Shares issued    10,000,000   $0.32   3,200,000  
Option exercised    400,000   $0.28   110,000  
Transfer from option reserve for option exercised    -  $0.00  32,040  
Less share issue costs    -  $0.00  (295,406) 
         
Balance  30 June 2018  56,432,000     9,001,814  
  
Ordinary shares 
Ordinary shares entitle the holder to participate in dividends and the proceeds on the winding up of the company in proportion 
to the number of and amounts paid on the shares held. The fully paid ordinary shares have no par value and the company 
does not have a limited amount of authorised capital. 
  
On a show of hands every member present at a meeting in person or by proxy shall have one vote and upon a poll each 
share shall have one vote. 
  
Share buy-back 
There is no current on-market share buy-back. 
  

Note 12. Current liabilities - trade and other payables 

 2018 2017 
 $ $

Trade payables 1,007,735 400,224 

Other payables and accruals 83,026 75,374 

Superannuation Payable 27,468 25,092 

PAYG Withholding Payable 32,196 77,866 

 1,150,425 578,556 

 

Refer to note 18 for further information on financial instruments.

Note 13. Current liabilities - provisions 

 2018 2017 
 $ $

Annual leave 60,957 28,165 

 

 

Note 14. Equity - issued capital 

 2018 2017 2018 2017 
 Shares Shares $ $

Ordinary shares - fully paid 56,432,000 46,032,000 9,001,814 5,955,180 

 

Movements in ordinary share capital

Details Date Shares $ $

Balance 1 July 2016 10,000,000  4 

Conversion of convertible notes  6,032,000 $0.00 603,200 

Initial public offer  30,000,000 $0.00 6,000,000 

Less share issue costs  - $0.00 (648,024)

Balance 30 June 2017 46,032,000  5,955,180 

Shares issued  10,000,000 $0.32 3,200,000 

Option exercised  400,000 $0.28 110,000 

Transfer from option reserve for option exercised  - $0.00 32,040 

Less share issue costs  - $0.00 (295,406)

Balance 30 June 2018 56,432,000   9,001,814 
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Ordinary shares

Ordinary shares entitle the holder to participate in dividends and the proceeds on the winding up of the 
company in proportion to the number of and amounts paid on the shares held. The fully paid ordinary 
shares have no par value and the company does not have a limited amount of authorised capital.

On a show of hands every member present at a meeting in person or by proxy shall have one vote and 
upon a poll each share shall have one vote.

Share buy-back

There is no current on-market share buy-back.

Capital risk management

The company’s objectives when managing capital is to safeguard its ability to continue as a going concern, 
so that it can provide returns for shareholders and benefits for other stakeholders and to maintain an 
optimum capital structure to reduce the cost of capital.

Capital is regarded as total equity, as recognised in the statement of financial position, plus net debt. Net 
debt is calculated as total borrowings less cash and cash equivalents.

In order to maintain or adjust the capital structure, the company may adjust the amount of dividends paid 
to shareholders, return capital to shareholders, issue new shares or sell assets to reduce debt.

 

Note 15. Equity - reserves 

 2018 2017 
 $ $

Share-based payments reserve 832,345 589,008 

    

Share-based payments reserve

The reserve is used to recognise the value of equity benefits provided to employees and directors as part of 
their remuneration, and other parties as part of their compensation for services. Refer Note 27 for details.

 

Note 16. Equity - accumulated losses 

 2018 2017 
 $ $

Accumulated losses at the beginning of the financial year (3,543,335) (374,720)

Loss after income tax expense for the year (3,672,105) (3,168,615)

Accumulated losses at the end of the financial year (7,215,440) (3,543,335)

 

Note 17. Equity - dividends

There were no dividends paid, recommended or declared during the current or previous financial year.
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Note 18. Financial instruments

Financial risk management objectives

The company’s activities expose it to a variety of financial risks: market risk (including foreign currency 
risk, price risk and interest rate risk), credit risk and liquidity risk. The company’s overall risk management 
program focuses on the unpredictability of financial markets and seeks to minimise potential adverse effects 
on the financial performance of the company. 

The entity uses different methods to measure different types of risk to which it is exposed. These methods 
include sensitivity analysis in the case of interest rate, foreign exchange and other price risks, ageing 
analysis for credit risk and beta analysis in respect of investment portfolios to determine market risk.  Risk 
management is carried out by senior finance executives (‘finance’) under policies approved by the Board of 
Directors (‘the Board’). These policies include identification and analysis of the risk exposure of the entity 
and appropriate procedures, controls and risk limits. Finance identifies, evaluates and hedges financial risks 
within the entity’s operating units. Finance reports to the Board on a monthly basis.

Market risk

Foreign currency risk

The company undertakes certain transactions denominated in foreign currency and is exposed to foreign 
currency risk through foreign exchange rate fluctuations.

Foreign exchange risk arises from future commercial transactions and recognised financial assets and 
financial liabilities denominated in a currency that is not the entity’s functional currency. 

During the year, most of the Company’s transactions are in Australian dollar, and while there are purchases 
made in foreign currencies, the movement in foreign exchange did not have a material impact to the overall 
financial performance of the Company.

Price risk

The company is not exposed to any significant price risk.

Interest rate risk

The Company has limited exposure to interest rate risk as there are no external loans. The Company has 
term deposits but as the interest rates are fixed, there is limited exposure to movement in interest rates.

Credit risk

Credit risk refers to the risk that a counterparty will default on its contractual obligations resulting in 
financial loss to the Company. The Company has a strict code of credit, including obtaining agency credit 
information, confirming references and setting appropriate credit limits. The Company obtains guarantees 
where appropriate to mitigate credit risk. The maximum exposure to credit risk at the reporting date to 
recognised financial assets is the carrying amount, net of any provisions for impairment of those assets, as 
disclosed in the statement of financial position and notes to the financial statements. The Company does 
not hold any collateral.

Liquidity risk

Vigilant liquidity risk management requires the company to maintain sufficient liquid assets (mainly cash and 
cash equivalents) and available borrowing facilities to be able to pay debts as and when they become due 
and payable.

The company manages liquidity risk by maintaining adequate cash reserves by continuously monitoring 
actual and forecast cash flows and matching the maturity profiles of financial assets and liabilities.
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Remaining contractual maturities

The following tables detail the company’s remaining contractual maturities for its financial instrument assets 
and liabilities. The tables have been drawn up based on the undiscounted cash flows of financial assets and 
liabilities based on the earliest date on which the financial assets are expected to be realised and financial 
liabilities are required to be paid. The tables include both interest and principal cash flows disclosed as 
remaining contractual maturities and therefore these totals may differ from their carrying amount in the 
statement of financial position.
 Weighted  Between Between  Remaining 
 average 1 year 1 and  2 and Over contractual 
 interest rate or less 2 years 5 years 5 years maturities 
2018 % $ $ $ $ $

Non-derivatives

Non-interest-bearing    

Cash and cash equivalents 1.05% 3,115,414 - - - 3,115,414 

Trade and other receivables - 74,269  - - - 74,269 

Trade payables - (1,007,735) - - - (1,007,735)

Other payables - (142,690) - - - (142,690)

Total non-derivatives  2,039,258 - - - 2,039,258 

 
 Weighted  Between Between  Remaining 
 average 1 year 1 and  2 and Over contractual 
 interest rate or less 2 years 5 years 5 years maturities 
2017 % $ $ $ $ $

Non-derivatives

Non-interest-bearing      

Cash and cash equivalents 2.60% 3,034,209 - - - 3,034,209 

Trade and other receivables - 19,761 - - - 19,761 

Other financial assets - - 34,013 - - 34,013 

Trade payables - (400,224) - - - (400,224)

Other payables - (178,332) - - - (178,332)

Total non-derivatives  2,475,414 34,013  - - 2,509,427 

 

The cash flows in the maturity analysis above are not expected to occur significantly earlier than 
contractually disclosed above.

Fair value of financial instruments

Unless otherwise stated, the carrying amounts of financial instruments reflect their fair value.
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Note 20. Remuneration of auditors 
  
During the financial year the following fees were paid or payable for services provided by Nexia Sydney Audit Pty Ltd., the 
auditor of the company, and unrelated firms: 
  
  2018  2017 
  $  $ 
     
Audit services - HLB Mann Judd Audit (SA) Pty Ltd     
Audit or review of the financial statements  40,000   29,750  
     
Other services - HLB Mann Judd Audit (SA) Pty Ltd     
Investigating accountants report  -    15,000  
Others  5,932   1,800  
     
  5,932   16,800  
     
  45,932   46,550  
     
Audit services - Nexia Sydney Audit Pty Ltd     
Audit or review of the financial statements  25,000   -   
  

 

Note 19. Key management personnel disclosures

Compensation

The aggregate compensation made to directors and other members of key management personnel of the 
company is set out below: 
 2018 2017 
 $ $

Short-term employee benefits 592,500 600,865 

Post-employment benefits 56,287  52,332 

Share-based payments 94,285 270,218 

 743,072 923,415 

Note 20. Remuneration of auditors

During the financial year the following fees were paid or payable for services provided by Nexia Sydney 
Audit Pty Ltd., the auditor of the company, and unrelated firms: 
 2018 2017 
 $ $

Audit services - HLB Mann Judd Audit (SA) Pty Ltd   
Audit or review of the financial statements 40,000 29,750 

Other services - HLB Mann Judd Audit (SA) Pty Ltd   
Investigating accountants report -  15,000 

Others 5,932 1,800 

 5,932 16,800 

 45,932 46,550 

Audit services - Nexia Sydney Audit Pty Ltd
Audit or review of the financial statements 25,000 -  

Note 21. Commitments

 2018 2017 
 $ $

Lease commitments - operating

Committed at the reporting date but not recognised as liabilities, payable: 
Within one year 45,955 54,439 

Other commitments - operating  

Committed at the reporting date but not recognised as liabilities, payable:   
Within one year 142,880 -
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Note 22. Related party transactions

Key management personnel

Disclosures relating to key management personnel are set out in note 19 and the remuneration report 
included in the directors’ report.

Transactions with related parties

The following transactions occurred with related parties: 
 2018 2017 
 $ $

Payment for goods and services:   
Payment for legal services to O’Loughlins Lawyers,  
an entity previously associated with Simon O’Loughlin - 131,396 

On 30 June 2017, Simon O’Loughlin is no longer associated with O’Loughlins Lawyers.

 

Receivable from and payable to related parties

The following balances are outstanding at the reporting date in relation to transactions with related parties: 
 2018 2017 
 $ $

Current payables:   
Payable to O’Loughlins Lawyers,  
an entity previously associated with Simon O’Loughlin - 8,396 

Loans to/from related parties

There were no loans to or from related parties at the current and previous reporting date.

Terms and conditions

All transactions were made on normal commercial terms and conditions and at market rates.

Note 23. Events after the reporting period

Subsequent to year end, the following events occurred: - 

I.   It was announced that George Livery has been appointed Executive Chairman with the appointment to 
take effect on 1 September: and

II.   On the 24th July 2018 at an Extraordinary General Meeting that for the purpose of ASX Listing Rule 10.11 
and for all other purposes, approval was given to the issue by the Company of 2,300,000 Options to 
George Livery.

No other matter or circumstance has arisen since 30 June 2018 that has significantly affected, or may 
significantly affect the company’s operations, the results of those operations, or the company’s state of 
affairs in future financial years.
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Note 24. Reconciliation of loss after income tax to net cash used in operating activities 

 2018 2017 
 $ $

Loss after income tax expense for the year (3,672,105) 3,168,615)

Adjustments for:

Depreciation and amortisation 29,886 17,334 

Share-based payments 202,148 390,150 

Finance costs - 23,200 

Listing expenses - 299,478 

Others 130 30,000 

Write off of inventories 132,000 -  

Write off of financial assets 68,033 -  

Change in operating assets and liabilities:   
Increase in trade and other receivables (114,669) (75,255)

Increase in inventories (237,235) (354,141)

Decrease/(increase) in prepayments 25,428 (51,083)

Increase in trade and other payables 571,869 510,420 

Increase in other provisions 32,792 14,086 

Net cash used in operating activities (2,961,723) (2,364,426)

Note 25. Earnings per share 

 2018 2017 
 $ $

Loss after income tax attributable to the owners of BOD Australia Limited (3,672,105) (3,168,615)

 Number Number

Weighted average number of ordinary shares  
used in calculating basic earnings per share 51,141,041 34,284,581 

Weighted average number of ordinary shares  
used in calculating diluted earnings per share 51,141,041 34,284,581 

 Cents Cents

Basic loss per share (7.18) (9.24)

Diluted loss per share (7.18) (9.24)

At the reporting date, the Company has 11,351,600 options (including escrowed and future vesting) and in 
the money that could potentially dilute basic earnings per share in the future, but were not included in the 
calculation of diluted earnings per share because they are anti-dilutive for the periods presented.
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Note 26. Share-based payments

The following share-based payment arrangements were outstanding during the year:
2018 
   Balance at   Expired/ Balance at 
  Exercise the start of   forfeited/ the end of 
Grant date Expiry date price the year Granted Exercised  other the year

22/12/2016 22/12/2019 $0.30 750,000 - - - 750,000 

22/12/2016 22/12/2019 $0.35 750,000 - - - 750,000 

03/08/2016 03/08/2019 $0.20 1,500,000 - - - 1,500,000 

03/08/2016 03/08/2019 $0.25  1,000,000 - - - 1,000,000 

03/08/2016 03/08/2019 $0.30 1,000,000 - - - 1,000,000 

03/08/2016 03/08/2019 $0.35 1,000,000 - - - 1,000,000 

27/10/2016 27/10/2019 $0.20 2,651,600 - - - 2,651,600 

27/10/2016 27/10/2019 $0.30 100,000 - - - 100,000 

27/10/2016 27/10/2019 $0.35 100,000  - - - 100,000 

16/03/2017 16/03/2020 $0.25 200,000 - (200,000) - -  

16/03/2017 16/03/2020 $0.30 200,000 - (200,000) - -  

16/03/2017 16/03/2020 $0.35 200,000  - - (200,000) -  

17/11/2017 17/11/2020 $0.20 - 300,000 - - 300,000 

17/11/2017 17/11/2020 $0.25  - 500,000 - - 500,000 

17/11/2017 17/11/2020 $0.30  - 200,000 - - 200,000 

27/12/2017 27/12/2019 $0.40  - 750,000 - - 750,000 

27/12/2017 27/12/2019 $0.48  - 750,000 - - 750,000 

   9,451,600 2,500,000 (400,000) (200,000) 11,351,600 

 

Weighted average exercise price  $0.26 $0.36  $0.28 $0.35 $0.28  

Share price at the date of exercise was $0.53.
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Note 26. Share-based payments 
  
The following share-based payment arrangements were outstanding during the year: 
  
2018               
      Balance at       Expired/   Balance at  
    Exercise   the start of       forfeited/  the end of  
Grant date  Expiry date  price  the year  Granted  Exercised   other  the year 
               
22/12/2016  22/12/2019  $0.30   750,000   -  -  -  750,000  
22/12/2016  22/12/2019  $0.35   750,000   -  -  -  750,000  
03/08/2016  03/08/2019  $0.20   1,500,000   -  -  -  1,500,000  
03/08/2016  03/08/2019  $0.25   1,000,000   -  -  -  1,000,000  
03/08/2016  03/08/2019  $0.30   1,000,000   -  -  -  1,000,000  
03/08/2016  03/08/2019  $0.35   1,000,000   -  -  -  1,000,000  
27/10/2016  27/10/2019  $0.20   2,651,600   -  -  -  2,651,600  
27/10/2016  27/10/2019  $0.30   100,000   -  -  -  100,000  
27/10/2016  27/10/2019  $0.35   100,000   -  -  -  100,000  
16/03/2017  16/03/2020  $0.25   200,000   -  (200,000)  -  -   
16/03/2017  16/03/2020  $0.30   200,000   -  (200,000)  -  -   
16/03/2017  16/03/2020  $0.35   200,000   -  -  (200,000)  -   
17/11/2017  17/11/2020  $0.20   -  300,000   -  -  300,000  
17/11/2017  17/11/2020  $0.25   -  500,000   -  -  500,000  
17/11/2017  17/11/2020  $0.30   -  200,000   -  -  200,000  
27/12/2017  27/12/2019  $0.40   -  750,000   -  -  750,000  
27/12/2017  27/12/2019  $0.48   -  750,000   -  -  750,000  
      9,451,600   2,500,000   (400,000)  (200,000)  11,351,600  
  
Weighted average exercise price  $0.26   $0.36   $0.28   $0.35   $0.28  
  
Share price at the date of exercise was $0.53. 
  
2017               
      Balance at       Expired/   Balance at  
    Exercise   the start of       forfeited/  the end of  
Grant date  Expiry date  price  the year  Granted  Exercised   other  the year 
               
22/12/2016  22/12/2019  $0.30   -  750,000   -  -  750,000  
22/12/2016  22/12/2019  $0.35   -  750,000   -  -  750,000  
03/08/2016  03/08/2019  $0.20   -  1,500,000   -  -  1,500,000  
03/08/2016  03/08/2019  $0.30   -  1,000,000   -  -  1,000,000  
03/08/2016  03/08/2019  $0.35   -  1,000,000   -  -  1,000,000  
03/08/2016  03/08/2019  $0.25   -  1,000,000   -  -  1,000,000  
27/10/2016  27/10/2019  $0.20   -  2,651,600   -  -  2,651,600  
27/10/2016  27/10/2019  $0.30   -  100,000   -  -  100,000  
27/10/2016  27/10/2019  $0.35   -  100,000   -  -  100,000  
16/03/2017  16/03/2020  $0.25   -  200,000   -  -  200,000  
16/03/2017  16/03/2020  $0.30   -  200,000   -  -  200,000  
16/03/2017  16/03/2020  $0.35   -  200,000   -  -  200,000  
      -  9,451,600   -  -  9,451,600  
  
Weighted average exercise price  $0.00  $0.26   $0.00  $0.00  $0.26  
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2017 
   Balance at   Expired/ Balance at 
  Exercise the start of   forfeited/ the end of 
Grant date Expiry date price the year Granted Exercised  other the year

22/12/2016 22/12/2019 $0.30 - 750,000 - - 750,000 

22/12/2016 22/12/2019 $0.35 - 750,000 - - 750,000 

03/08/2016 03/08/2019 $0.20 - 1,500,000 - - 1,500,000 

03/08/2016 03/08/2019 $0.30 - 1,000,000 - - 1,000,000 

03/08/2016 03/08/2019 $0.35 - 1,000,000  - - 1,000,000 

03/08/2016 03/08/2019 $0.25  - 1,000,000  - - 1,000,000 

27/10/2016 27/10/2019 $0.20  - 2,651,600  - - 2,651,600 

27/10/2016 27/10/2019 $0.30  - 100,000  - - 100,000 

27/10/2016 27/10/2019 $0.35  - 100,000  - - 100,000 

16/03/2017 16/03/2020 $0.25  - 200,000  - - 200,000 

16/03/2017 16/03/2020 $0.30  - 200,000  - - 200,000 

16/03/2017 16/03/2020 $0.35  - 200,000  - - 200,000 

   - 9,451,600  - - 9,451,600 

 

Weighted average exercise price  $0.00 $0.26 $0.00 $0.00 $0.26 

Set out below are the options exercisable at the end of the financial year:
  2018 2017 
Grant date Expiry date Number Number

03/08/2016 03/08/2019 3,500,000  2,500,000 

27/10/2016 27/10/2019 2,851,600 2,388,035 

22/12/2016 22/12/2019 1,500,000 750,000 

16/03/2017 16/03/2020 - 200,000 

17/11/2017 17/11/2020 300,000  -

  8,151,600 5,838,035 

 

The weighted average remaining contractual life of options outstanding at the end of the financial year was 
1.37 years (2017: 2.26 years).

For the options granted during the current financial year, the valuation model inputs used to determine the 
fair value at the grant date, are as follows:
  Share     Fair 
  price at Exercise Expected Dividend Risk-free value at 
Grant date Expiry date grant date price volatility yield  interest rate grant date

17/11/2017 17/11/2020 $0.14 $0.20 100.00% - 1.95% $0.0814 

17/11/2017 17/11/2020 $0.14 $0.25 100.00%  - 1.95%  $0.0749 

17/11/2017 17/11/2020 $0.14  $0.30  100.00%  - 1.95%  $0.0694 

27/11/2017 27/12/2019 $0.38  $0.40  120.00%  - 2.21%  $0.1144 

27/11/2017 27/12/2019 $0.38  $0.48  120.00%  - 2.21% $0.0859 
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In the directors’ opinion:

•  the attached financial statements and notes comply with the Corporations Act 2001, the Australian 
Accounting Standards, the Corporations Regulations 2001 and other mandatory professional reporting 
requirements;

•  the attached financial statements and notes comply with International Financial Reporting Standards as 
issued by the International Accounting Standards Board as described in note 1 to the financial statements;

•  the attached financial statements and notes give a true and fair view of the company’s financial position as 
at 30 June 2018 and of its performance for the financial year ended on that date; and

•  there are reasonable grounds to believe that the company will be able to pay its debts as and when they 
become due and payable.

The directors have been given the declarations required by section 295A of the Corporations Act 2001.

Signed in accordance with a resolution of directors made pursuant to section 295(5)(a) of the Corporations 
Act 2001.

 

On behalf of the directors

 

 

Joanne Patterson 
Director and Chief Executive Officer

31 August 2018

 

DIRECTORS’ 
DECLARATION
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Dear Shareholders,

From an operational standpoint, the financial year 

ending 30 June 2017 (‘FY2017’) has been a period of 

exceptional development for Bod Australia.

The Company has made solid gains across its 

core evidence-based natural skin care, and health 

solutions business, while simultaneously laying solid 

foundations for long-term growth in the rapidly 

emerging medicinal cannabis market.

Building on a successful initial public offering (IPO), 

Bod’s key achievements in FY2017 have included 

strengthening its portfolio of premium skin care and 

evidence-based natural health products, expanding 

sales channels and entering into the research and 

development stages with our medicinal cannabis 

offering.

I am delighted to report that Bod’s portfolio of 

premium skin and health care brands is now stronger 

than ever as a result through our introduction 

of Flexofytol® anti-inflammatory products into 

the Australian and Asian markets, alongside the 

recognised and established Pommade Divine brand.

Bod is delivering on the product development 

objectives outlined in the Company’s prospectus 

through the launch of the Pinpoint product line, which 

is medically proven to improve mental performance in 

adults and children aged seven years and over.

These new product lines complement Bod’s existing 

exclusive Australian distribution agreement for 

BIOEFFECT, an award-winning serum based on the 

cellular activator that speeds up the skin’s natural 

renewal process to rejuvenate complexion and banish 

signs of ageing. 

Having built a strong portfolio of integrated evidence-

based health and skin care brands, Bod has also 

strengthened its sales pipeline and expanded its 

channels to market through agreements with leading 

retailers and distributors.

In FY2017, Bod added a range of major retail partners 

including Ritchie’s IGA supermarkets and Alpha 

inflight duty-free services, along with Australian 

Pharmaceutical Industries’ network of 3,000 Priceline, 

Soul Pattinson, Pharmacist Advice and Club Premium 

retail outlets.

These new channels are in addition to Bod’s 

established distribution partnerships with David Jones, 

Sephora, independent pharmacies, and direct sales to 

consumers online.

Bod’s strong market position, extensive distribution 

agreements, and leading expertise in the evidence-

based natural skin care, and health solutions markets 

ensures that it is ideally placed to build a highly-

integrated medicinal cannabis business.

We believe there are a multitude of opportunities 

for Bod in the cannabis market, including both 

therapeutic uses and broader health applications and 

we look forward to updating shareholders as these 

opportunities arise. 

The Company will also continue to explore 

acquisitions or other corporate opportunities to assist 

in realising further value for shareholders. 

Bod has taken a number of steps to pursue 

opportunities in the cannabis space by signing a 

binding letter of intent (LOI) with Linnea, establishing 

a Medicinal Cannabis Advisory Board, and appointing 

leading medicinal cannabis expert Mr. Mickey Perret 

as a Non-Executive Director.

Overall, in FY2017 Bod has delivered on a number 

of fronts from an operational perspective including 

additional products, securing major distribution 

agreements with leading brands, expanding 

distribution, signing an LOI with Linnea, and exploring 

profit-accretive acquisitions. The Company is now 

well-position to build on these successes to realise 

growth in FY2018.

Yours sincerely,

Jo Patterson 

Chief Executive Officer

CEO’S REPORT
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Independent Auditor’s Report to the Members of Bod Australia Limited 

Report on the Audit of the Financial Report 

Opinion
We have audited the financial report of Bod Australia Limited (the Company), which comprises the 
statement of financial position as at 30 June 2018, the statement of profit or loss and other 
comprehensive income, statement of changes in equity and statement of cash flows for the year then 
ended, and notes to the financial statements, including a summary of significant accounting policies, and 
the directors’ declaration. 

In our opinion, the accompanying financial report of the Company is in accordance with the Corporations 
Act 2001, including: 

i) giving a true and fair view of the Company’s financial position as at 30 June 2018 and of its 
financial performance for the year then ended; and 

ii) complying with Australian Accounting Standards and the Corporations Regulations 2001. 

Basis for opinion  
We conducted our audit in accordance with Australian Auditing Standards. Our responsibilities under those 
standards are further described in the ‘auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the financial report’ section 
of our report. We are independent of the Company in accordance with the Corporations Act 2001 and the 
ethical requirements of the Accounting Professional and Ethical Standards Board’s APES 110 Code of 
Ethics for Professional Accountants (the Code) that are relevant to our audit of the financial report in 
Australia. We have also fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the Code. 

We confirm that the independence declaration required by the Corporations Act 2001, which has been 
given to the directors of the Company, would be in the same terms if given to the directors as at the time 
of this auditor’s report. 

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for 
our opinion. 

Material Uncertainty Related to Going Concern 
We draw attention to Note 1 in the financial report, which indicates that the Company incurred a net loss 
of $3,672,105 during the year ended 30 June 2018 and incurred net cash outflows from operating 
activities of $2,961,723. As stated in Note 1, these events or conditions, along with other matters as set 
forth in Note 1, indicate that a material uncertainty exists that may cast significant doubt on the 
Company’s ability to continue as a going concern. Our opinion is not modified in respect of this matter. 

To the Board of Directors of Bod Australia Limited 

Auditor’s Independence Declaration under section 307C of the Corporations Act 2001

As lead audit director for the audit of the financial statements of Bod Australia Limited for the financial year 
ended 30 June 2018, I declare that to the best of my knowledge and belief, there have been no 
contraventions of: 

(a) the auditor independence requirements of the Corporations Act 2001 in relation to the audit; and 

(b) any applicable code of professional conduct in relation to the audit. 

Yours sincerely 

Nexia Sydney Audit Pty Ltd 

Joseph Santangelo 
Director 

Date: 31 August 2018 

INDEPENDENT 
AUDITOR’S  
REPORT
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Key audit matters 
Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgement, were of most significance in our 
audit of the financial report of the current period. These matters were addressed in the context of our 
audit of the financial report as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a 
separate opinion on these matters. 

Key audit matter How our audit addressed the key audit matter 

Share-based payments 

Refer to Note 26 

The Company provide benefits to officers, 
employees and suppliers in the form of 
share-based payment transactions, whereby 
they rendered services and receive rights 
over shares. These share-based payment 
transactions are classified by the Company 
as equity-settled. The company used an 
external expert to value the options. 

We consider the share-based payments as a 
key audit matter due to: 

 The level of estimation and judgement 
required in the application of the 
appropriate valuation model and the key 
inputs and assumptions in determining 
the value of the share base payments.  

Our procedures included, amongst others: 

 Agreed the terms and conditions of the options issued 
during the financial year, including grant date, 
exercise price, vesting conditions and expiry to 
supporting documentation. 

 Obtained the Company’s expert’s options valuation 
report and assessed the reasonableness of using the 
Black Scholes model to value the options and 
assessed the key inputs and assumptions used. 

 Assess the treatment of the vesting conditions in 
relation to the amounts recorded for the share based 
payments during the year including the probabilities 
applied to the market based conditions. 

 Assessed the appropriateness of the disclosures in the 
financial statements. 

Other information 
The directors are responsible for the other information. The other information comprises the information 
in Bod Australia Limited’s Directors report for the year ended 30 June 2018 which we obtained prior to the 
date of this auditor’s report and the Annual Report, which is expected to be made available to us after 
that date. The other information does not include the financial report and our auditor’s report thereon. 

Our opinion on the financial report does not cover the other information and we do not express any form 
of assurance conclusion thereon. 

In connection with our audit of the financial report, our responsibility is to read the other information and, 
in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the financial report or 
our knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be materially misstated.  

If, based on the work we have performed on the other information that we obtained prior to the date of 
this auditors report, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of the other information we are 
required to report that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard. 

When we read the Annual Report, if we concluded that there is material misstatement therein, we are 
required to communicate the matter to the directors and will request that it is corrected. If it is not 
corrected, we will seek to have the matter appropriately brought to the attention of the users for whom 
our report is prepared. 

Directors’ responsibility for the financial report 
The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation of the financial report that gives a true 
and fair view in accordance with Australian Accounting Standards and the Corporations Act 2001 and for 

INDEPENDENT 
AUDITOR’S  
REPORT 
CONTINUED
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such internal control as the directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation of the financial 
report that gives a true and fair view and is free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or 
error.  

In preparing the financial report, the directors are responsible for assessing the Company’s ability to 
continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the 
going concern basis of accounting unless the directors either intend to liquidate the Company or to cease 
operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so. 

Auditor’s responsibility for the audit of the financial report 
Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial report as a whole is free 
from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that includes 
our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit 
conducted in accordance with the Australian Auditing Standards will always detect a material 
misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, 
individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of 
users taken on the basis of this financial report. 

A further description of our responsibilities for the audit of the financial report is located at The Australian 
Auditing and Assurance Standards Board website at: www.auasb.gov.au/auditors_files/ar2.pdf. This 
description forms part of our auditor’s report. 

Report on the Remuneration Report 

Opinion on the Remuneration Report 
We have audited the Remuneration Report included in pages 5 to 12 of the directors’ Report for the year 
ended 30 June 2018.  

In our opinion, the Remuneration Report of Bod Australia Limited for the year ended 30 June 2018, 
complies with section 300A of the Corporations Act 2001.  

Responsibilities  
The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation and presentation of the Remuneration 
Report in accordance with section 300A of the Corporations Act 2001. Our responsibility is to express an 
opinion on the Remuneration Report, based on our audit conducted in accordance with Australian Auditing 
Standards. 

Nexia Sydney Audit Pty Ltd

Joseph Santangelo 
Director 

Dated: 31 August 2018 
Sydney
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SHAREHOLDER 
INFORMATION

The shareholder information set out below was applicable as at 8 October 2018.

ASX Listing Rule 4.10.19

Bod Australia Limited has used the cash and assets in a form readily convertible to cash at the time of 
admission in a way consistent with its business objectives.

Distribution of equitable securities

Analysis of number of equitable security holders by size of holding:

 Number of Holders  Number of holders of ordinary 
Range of ordinary shares quoted shares escrowed to 27/10/2018

1 to 1,000 238 –

1,001 to 5,000 614 –

5,001 to 10,000 224 –

10,001 to 100,000 293 –

100,001 and over 79 5

Total 1,448 5

Holding less than a marketable parcel 129 -

 
 Number of Holders of  Number of Holders of Number of Holders of Number of Holders of 
 $0.20 unlisted options $0.25 unlisted options  $0.30 unlisted options $0.35 unlisted options 
 expiring 3/08/2019, expiring 3/08/2019, expiring 3/08/2019, expiring 3/08/2019, 
Range escrow until 27/10/2018 escrow until 27/10/2018 escrow until 27/10/2018 escrow until 27/10/2018

1 to 1,000 – – – –

1,001 to 5,000 – – – –

5,001 to 10,000 – – – –

10,001 to 100,000 – – – –

100,001 and over 2 2 2 2

Total 2 2 2 2

Holding less than a marketable parcel   
 
 Number of Holders of  Number of Holders of Number of Holders of Number of Holders of 
 $0.20 unlisted options $0.20 unlisted options  $0.20 unlisted options $0.30 unlisted options 
 expiring 27/10/2019, expiring 27/10/2019 expiring 27/10/2019 expiring 27/10/2019 
Range escrow until 27/10/2018   

1 to 1,000 – – – –

1,001 to 5,000 – – – –

5,001 to 10,000 – – – –

10,001 to 100,000 – – – –

100,001 and over 1 1 1 1

Total 1 1 1 1

 Holding less than a marketable parcel   
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   Number of Holders of  
 Number of Holders of  Number of Holders of  $0.35 unlisted options Number of Holders of 
 $0.35 unlisted options $0.30 unlisted options expiring 22/12/2019, $0.20 unlisted options 
Range expiring 27/10/2019 expiring 22/12/2019 vesting period of 6 months expiring 17/11/2020

1 to 1,000 – – – –

1,001 to 5,000 – – – –

5,001 to 10,000 – – – –

10,001 to 100,000 – – – –

100,001 and over 1 1 1 1

Total 1 1 1 1

Holding less than a marketable parcel   
 
    Number of Holders of Number of Holders of 
    $0.40 unlisted options $0.48 unlisted options 
 Number of Holders of Number of Holders of expiring 21/12/2019, expiring 21/12/2019, 
 $0.25 unlisted options $0.30 unlisted options vesting period after  vesting period after 
 expiring 17/11/2020, expiring 17/11/2020, the share price trades  the share price trades 
 vesting period of vesting period of at VWAP of $0.75 at VWAP of $1.00 
Range 12 months from issue 18 months from issue over 10 days over 10 days 

1 to 1,000 – – – –

1,001 to 5,000 – – – –

5,001 to 10,000 – – – –

10,001 to 100,000 – – – –

100,001 and over 1 1 2 2

Total 1 1 2 2

Holding less than a marketable parcel   
 
 Number of Holders of  Number of Holders of  Number of Holders of 
 $0.50 unlisted options $0.50 unlisted options $0.50 unlisted options 
Range expiring 30/06/2022, expiring 30/06/2023, expiring 30/06/2024, 
 vesting 1 july 2019 vesting 1 july 2020 vesting 1 july 2021 
 subject to conditions subject to conditions subject to conditions

1 to 1,000 – – –

1,001 to 5,000 – – –

5,001 to 10,000 – – –

10,001 to 100,000 – – –

100,001 and over 1 1 1

Total 1 1 1

Holding less than a marketable parcel   
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SHAREHOLDER 
INFORMATION
CONTINUED

Equity security holders

Twenty largest quoted equity security holders

The names of the twenty largest security holders of quoted equity securities are listed below:

 
 Number held % of total shares issued

Citicorp Nominees Pty Limited  6,750,207 11.67

J P Morgan Nominees Australia Limited  6,056,648 10.47

AWJ Family Pty Ltd  3,453,085 5.97

HSBC Custody Nominees (Australia) Limited  3,354,279 5.80

UBS Nominees Pty Ltd 1,779,034 3.08

Calama Holdings Pty Ltd  1,505,000 2.60

GP Securities Pty Ltd  1,402,000 2.42

National Nominess Limited 1,200,000 2.08

CS Fourth Nominees Pty Limited  890,387 1.54

JGC Patterson Pty Ltd  700,000 1.21

Ponderosa Investments Pty Ltd 566,038 0.98

Darroch Family Pty Ltd 543,836 0.94

Mr Chinh Huu Nguyen  525,000 0.91

Mr Thomas Gunnersen  516,909 0.89

Jimbzal Pty Ltd  500,000 0.86

Tsugi Pty Ltd  495,000 0.86

Mr Steven John Murphy  491,785 0.85

Seaball Pty Ltd  476,818 0.82

Symington Pty Ltd  429,361 0.74

Mr John Irving Gilder  410,000 0.71
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Unquoted equity securities

 Number on Issue Number of Holders

Unlisted ordinary shares – escrow until 27 october 2018 10,717,000 5

$0.20 Unlisted options expiring 3/08/2019, escrow until 27/10/2018 1,500,000 2

$0.25 Unlisted options expiring 3/08/2019, escrow until 27/10/2018 1,000,000 2

$0.30 Unlisted options expiring 3/08/2019, escrow until 27/10/2018 1,000,000 2

$0.35 Unlisted options expiring 3/08/2019, escrow until 27/10/2018 1,000,000 2

$0.20 Unlisted options expiring 27/10/2019, escrow until 27/10/2018 2,301,600 1

$0.20 Unlisted options expiring 27/10/2019 250,000 1

$0.20 Unlisted options expiring 27/10/2019 100,000 1

$0.30 Unlisted options expiring 27/10/2019 100,000 1

$0.35 Unlisted options expiring 27/10/2019 100,000 1

$0.30 Unlisted options expiring 22/12/2019 750,000 1

$0.35 Unlisted options expiring 22/12/2019, vesting period of 6 months 750,000 1

$0.20 Unlisted options expiring 17/11/2020 300,000 1

$0.25 Unlisted options expiring 17/11/2020,  
vesting period of 12 months from issue 500,000 1

$0.30 Unlisted options expiring 17/11/2020,  
vesting period of 18 months from issue 200,000 1

$0.40 Unlisted options expiring 21/12/2019, vesting period  
after the share price trades at VWAP of $0.75 over 10 days 750,000 2

$0.48 Unlisted options expiring 21/12/2019, vesting period  
after the share price trades at VWAP of $1.00 over 10 days 750,000 2

$0.50 Unlisted options expiring 30/06/2022,  
vesting 1 july 2019 subject to conditions 550,000 1

$0.50 Unlisted options expiring 30/06/2023,  
vesting 1 july 2020 subject to conditions 750,000 1

$0.50 Unlisted options expiring 30/06/2024,  
vesting 1 july 2021 subject to conditions 1,000,000 1
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SHAREHOLDER 
INFORMATION
CONTINUED

The following persons holds 20% or more of 
unquoted equity securities:

UNLISTED ORDINARY SHARES  
– ESCROW UNTIL 27/10/2018

Noir Ted Pty Ltd 
Number held: 5,000,000

Health and Beauty Enterprise Pty Limited 
Number held: 5,000,000

$0.20 UNLISTED OPTIONS EXPIRING 3/08/2019, 
ESCROW UNTIL 27/10/2018

Jimbzal Pty Ltd <Taylor Family A/C> 
Number held: 750,000

Yoix Pty Ltd 
Number held: 750,000

$0.25 UNLISTED OPTIONS EXPIRING 3/08/2019, 
ESCROW UNTIL 27/10/2018

Noir Ted Pty Ltd 
Number held: 500,000

Health and Beauty Enterprise Pty Limited 
Number held: 500,000

$0.30 UNLISTED OPTIONS EXPIRING 3/08/2019, 
ESCROW UNTIL 27/10/2018

Noir Ted Pty Ltd 
Number held: 500,000

Health and Beauty Enterprise Pty Limited 
Number held: 500,000

$0.35 UNLISTED OPTIONS EXPIRING 3/08/2019, 
ESCROW UNTIL 27/10/2018

Noir Ted Pty Ltd 
Number held: 500,000

Health And Beauty Enterprise Pty Limited 
Number held: 500,000

$0.20 UNLISTED OPTIONS EXPIRING 27/10/2019, 
ESCROW UNTIL 27/10/2018

Taycol Nominees Pty Ltd 
Number held: 2,301,600

$0.20 UNLISTED OPTIONS EXPIRING 27/10/2019, 
ESCROW UNTIL 27/10/2017

NWR Communications Pty Ltd 
Number held: 250,000

$0.20 UNLISTED OPTIONS EXPIRING 27/10/2019

John Gilder 
Number held: 100,000

$0.30 UNLISTED OPTIONS EXPIRING 27/10/2019

John Gilder 
Number held: 100,000

$0.35 UNLISTED OPTIONS EXPIRING 27/10/2019

John Gilder 
Number held: 100,000

$0.30 UNLISTED OPTIONS EXPIRING 22/12/2019

Taycol Nominees Pty Ltd 
Number held: 750,000

$0.35 UNLISTED OPTIONS EXPIRING 22/12/2019, 
VESTING PERIOD OF 6 MONTHS

Taycol Nominees Pty Ltd 
Number held: 750,000

$0.20 UNLISTED OPTIONS EXPIRING 17/11/2020

Mickey Raymond Perret 
Number held: 300,000

$0.25 UNLISTED OPTIONS EXPIRING 17/11/2020, 
VESTING PERIOD OF 12 MONTHS FROM ISSUE

Mickey Raymond Perret 
Number held: 500,000

$0.30 UNLISTED OPTIONS EXPIRING 17/11/2020, 
VESTING PERIOD OF 18 MONTHS FROM ISSUE 

Mickey Raymond Perret 
Number held: 200,000

$0.40 UNLISTED OPTIONS EXPIRING 21/12/2019, 
VESTING PERIOD AFTER THE SHARE PRICE TRADES 
AT VWAP OF $0.75 OVER 10 DAYS 

Taycol Nominees Pty Ltd 
Number held: 375,000

Jay-V Inc 
Number held: 375,000

$0.48 UNLISTED OPTIONS EXPIRING 21/12/2019, 
VESTING PERIOD AFTER THE SHARE PRICE TRADES 
AT VWAP OF $1.00 OVER 10 DAYS 

Taycol Nominees Pty Ltd 
Number held: 375,000

Jay-V Inc 
Number held: 375,000

$0.50 UNLISTED OPTIONS EXPIRING 30/06/2022, 
VESTING 1 JULY 2019 SUBJECT TO CONDITIONS

George Livery 
Number held: 550,000

$0.50 UNLISTED OPTIONS EXPIRING 30/06/2023, 
VESTING 1 JULY 2020 SUBJECT TO CONDITIONS 

George Livery 
Number held: 750,000

$0.50 UNLISTED OPTIONS EXPIRING 30/06/2024, 
VESTING 1 JULY 2021 SUBJECT TO CONDITIONS

George Livery 
Number held: 1,000,000



Bod Australia Limited  |  PAGE 63

Substantial holders

Substantial holders in the company are set out below based on the shares disclosed as held from the last 
Form 603 or Form 604 lodged by the shareholder:

 Ordinary shares 
 Number Held

Health and Beauty Enterprise Pty Limited 
JGC Patterson Pty Ltd 5,700,000

Noir Ted Pty Ltd 5,000,000

Tribeca Investment Partners Pty Ltd 3,500,000

Voting rights

Voting rights are as set out below:

Ordinary shares

On a show of hands every member present at a meeting in person or by proxy shall have one vote and 
upon a poll each share shall have one vote.

Options 

All quoted and unquoted options do not carry any voting rights.
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